
 

 
Telephone Enquiries: Democratic Services, Democratic Services (01254) 

380116/380109/380184 
Email: memberservices@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
Published on Wednesday, 22 June 2022 

Page 1 of 3 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Council 
 
Thursday, 30 June 2022 at 7.00 pm, 
Council Chamber, Town Hall, Accrington 
 
Membership 
 
Councillor Abdul Khan (Mayor) in the Chair,  
Councillors Judith Addison, Dominik Allen, Josh Allen, Mohammad Ayub, Noordad Aziz, 
Scott Brerton, Peter Britcliffe, Danny Cassidy, Andrew Clegg, Jodi Clements, Loraine Cox, 
Paul Cox, Munsif Dad BEM JP, Bernard Dawson, Peter Edwards, Melissa Fisher, June Harrison, 
Marlene Haworth, Susan Hayes, Carole Haythornthwaite, Eamonn Higgins, Terry Hurn, Zak Khan, 
Sajid Mahmood, Patrick McGinley, Caroline Montague, Miles Parkinson OBE, Joyce Plummer, 
Kath Pratt, Paddy Short, Steven Smithson, Kate Walsh and Kimberley Whitehead 
 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1.   Apologies for absence   
 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest and Dispensations   
 
 

3.   Announcements   
 
a) Mayor/Deputy Mayor 
b) Leader of the Council 
c) Chief Executive 
 

4.   Confirmation of Minutes  (Pages 5 - 22) 
 

Public Document Pack



 

Page 2 of 3 

 

To confirm as correct records the minutes of recent Council meetings held on 19th and 
21st May 2022. 
 

5.   Question Time  (Pages 23 - 26) 
 
To deal with any questions submitted under Council Procedure Rule A2.2(vi). 
 

 Five questions have been received (report attached). 
 

6.   Constitution Update  (Pages 27 - 32) 
 
Report attached. 
 

7.   Minutes of Cabinet  (Pages 33 - 48) 
 
To receive the Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 16th March 2022 (attached). 
 
Rules of Debate 
 

 The Leader of the Council will move the Minutes, the Deputy Leader of the 
Council will second the Minutes. 

 Non-executive Members will be invited to make comment or ask questions on the 
Minutes (5 Minutes). 

 Cabinet Members will be invited to make comments and respond to any points 
raised (5 Minutes). 

 The Leader of the Council will be given up to 15 Minutes to respond and to 
answer any questions raised. 

 

8.   Minutes of Committees  (Pages 49 - 66) 
 
To receive the Minutes of committees, as set out below: 
 
Rules of Debate 
 

 The Leader of the Council will introduce the Minutes as a whole. 

 Any Member may raise any issue from the Minutes; the Chair of the relevant 
Committee may respond (5 Minutes). 

 The Leader of the Council will close the debate (5 Minutes). 
 

Meeting (Municipal Year 2021/22) Date 

Audit Committee 7th March 2022 

Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee 17th March 2022 

Licensing Sub-Committee 22nd March 2022 

Planning Committee 23rd March 2022 
 

9.   Motion(s) submitted on Notice  (Pages 67 - 68) 
 
Report attached. 
 



 

Page 3 of 3 

 

 
 
 

 
Chief Executive 
Scaitcliffe House, 
Ormerod Street, 
ACCRINGTON BB5 OPF 
 
Wednesday, 22 June 2022 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 
COUNCIL 

 

 
Thursday, 19th May, 2022 

 
Present:  Councillors Judith Addison, Dominik Allen, Josh Allen, Mohammad Ayub, 

Noordad Aziz, Scott Brerton, Peter Britcliffe, Danny Cassidy, 
Andrew Clegg, Jodi Clements, Loraine Cox, Paul Cox, 
Munsif Dad BEM JP, Bernard Dawson, Peter Edwards, Melissa Fisher, 
June Harrison, Marlene Haworth, Susan Hayes, Carole Haythornthwaite, 
Eamonn Higgins, Terry Hurn, Abdul Khan, Zak Khan, Sajid Mahmood, 
Patrick McGinley, Caroline Montague, Miles Parkinson OBE, Kath Pratt, 
Paddy Short, Steven Smithson, Kate Walsh and Kimberley Whitehead 
 

Apologies: Councillor Joyce Plummer 

  

 
The meeting was opened by the retiring Mayor, Councillor Kath Pratt. 

 
The Mayor announced the sad passing of James (Jim) Russell Foster on 15th May 2022.  
Jim had been a Conservative councillor on Hyndburn Borough Council (1992-1996) and a 
parish councillor in Altham.  His funeral was due to take place on Friday 27th May 2022. 
 
The Mayor made a brief announcement about her civic year, which included reference to a 
difficult start due to the COVID restrictions.  The Mayor thanked her Civic Attendants, the 
Civic Office and the Members of her Charity Committee.  The Committee had arranged a 
very successful Mayor’s Ball and overall the Mayoral Charity had raised around £11k for 
good causes.  The Mayor also thanked her Consort and husband, Barrie Pratt, and her 
Mayoress, Councillor Judith Addison. 

 
1 Election of Mayor 2022/23 

 
It was proposed by Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE and seconded jointly by Councillors 
Munsif Dad BEM JP and Peter Britcliffe, that Councillor Abdul Ghafar Khan be elected 
Mayor of the Borough of Hyndburn for the Municipal Year 2022/23. 
 
Resolved - That, in pursuance of Section 23 of the Local 

Government Act 1972, Councillor Abdul Khan be 
elected to the Office of Mayor of the Borough of 
Hyndburn for the Municipal Year 2022/23.  

 
The retiring Mayor, Councillor Kath Pratt and the newly-elected Mayor, Councillor Abdul 
Khan, along with the Leaders of the two political groups and Chief Executive left the 
meeting. 
 
Following a short adjournment, Councillor Khan took his place in the Mayor’s seat and the 
retiring Mayor attached the Mayoral Fob to the Chain now worn by the newly-elected 
Mayor.  Councillor Khan then read and signed the Declaration of Acceptance of Office of 
Mayor. 
 
Councillor Khan thanked Members for their support and confirmed that he would make a 
formal speech at the Mayor Making ceremony on Saturday 21st May 2022. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

2 Election of Deputy Mayor 2022/23 
 
The Mayor invited nominations for the election of Deputy Mayor of the Borough of 
Hyndburn for the Municipal Year 2022/23.  It was proposed by Councillor Miles Parkinson 
OBE and seconded jointly by Councillors Marlene Haworth and Munsif Dad BEM JP that 
Councillor Terry Hurn be elected to the Office of Deputy Mayor. 
 
Resolved - That, in pursuance of Section 23 of the Local 

Government Act 1972, Councillor Terry Hurn be 
elected to the Office of Deputy Mayor of the Borough 
of Hyndburn for the Municipal Year 2022/23.  

 
Councillor Hurn read and signed the Declaration of Acceptance of Office of Deputy Mayor. 
 

3 Apologies for absence 
 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillor Joyce Plummer. 
 

4 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
The Mayor indicated that, except for the newly elected councillors, all Members had been 
granted a dispensation to speak and vote in relation to setting a local Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme, which was relevant to Agenda Item 16 - Council Tax Energy Rebate 
Discretionary Fund. 
 
Under the circumstances, the Mayor advised that new councillors should refrain from voting 
on this item when it was reached. 
 
There were no declarations of interest or dispensations submitted. 
 
Councillor June Harrison announced that she would be resigning with immediate effect from 
the Hyndburn Labour Group.  She outlined the reasons for her decision, which had not 
been taken lightly.  She expressed best wishes to the new Labour members recently 
elected.  Councillor Harrison would continue to serve as an Independent Member for the 
remainder of her term of office. 
 
Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP thanked Councillor Harrison for her service and expressed 
his disappointment at her decision, particularly as she had recently supported his 
appointment as Group Leader.  He confirmed that he would lead the Labour Group in 
Hyndburn and that he would do this to the best of his ability. 
 

5 Announcements 
 
(a) Votes of Thanks 
 
The Leader of the Council, Miles Parkinson OBE, indicated that the Mayor Making meeting 
on 21st May 2022 would provide the main opportunity for formal speeches and votes of 
thanks.  He briefly thanked the retiring Mayor for her service.  She had taken up the office 
at a time when the pandemic was still having an impact and physical meetings still had 
COVID-safe control measures in place.  There had also been a shortage of civic staff at the 
start of her term of office.  Notwithstanding these issues, the Mayor would have some 
happy memories of her time in office, particularly her work with the voluntary sector and 
those engagements with other civic dignitaries outside of the Borough.  Councillors Haworth 
and Dad also thanked councillor Pratt.  Councillor Pratt commented that it had been a 
privilege and pleasure to serve the Borough for the last 12 months. 

Page 6



 
 
 

 

 
3 

 
(b) Congratulations to the new Mayor and Deputy Mayor 
 
The Leader of the Council congratulated councillor Khan on his appointment as Mayor and 
Councillor Hurn as Deputy Mayor and wished them well for the year ahead, as 
ambassadors for the Borough.  This was a special year, due to the Queen’s Platinum 
Jubillee, and there would be many events held across the Borough in celebration. 
 
The Leader noted that 2024 would be Hyndburn Borough Council’s 50th anniversary.  He 
wished to nominate Councillor Joyce Plummer as the Mayor Designate for Hyndburn’s 
Golden Jubilee Year and asked Members to support this nomination at the appropriate 
time. 
 
(c) Annual Review and Future Plans 
 
2021/22 had been an eventful year.  The Leader thanked Members for their continuing 
support.  He aimed to work with everyone across the Council who were prepared to put 
residents first.  This invitation had been extended to all, irrespective of their political 
affiliations.  He commented that there were excellent Labour councillors and he especially 
thanked those who had previously worked to support him.  In particular, he thanked 
Councillor Paul Cox as his loyal Deputy Leader.  Support had also been received across 
the political divide and the Leader had worked closely with Conservative MP Sara Britcliffe 
and group leader Councillor Marlene Haworth.  All were focused on bringing money into the 
Borough. 
 
Councillor Parkinson would be the first Independent Leader of Hyndburn Council. He vowed 
to continue to work positively with those putting residents first.  The Agenda ahead was 
positive.  The work with stakeholders on the Levelling Up Fund bid, due to be submitted in 
July, could realise £20M for the Borough.  This was an ambitious plan and had been 
developed by the Strategic Partnership Board, chaired by David Sanderson, Deputy Lord 
Lieutenant and Chief Executive of the Rank Foundation Trust Ltd.  The overall programme 
would be supplemented by £2M of the Council’s own monies and some £20M anticipated 
from Lancashire County Council’s Levelling Up Fund bid.  In addition, around £10M had 
been committed so far to the Leisure Transformation project and a further bid of £2M was 
being planned to Sport England for other projects.  A bid of around £28.5M would be made 
to Homes England  in September 2022 to support the Huncoat Garden Village Masterplan.  
A further bid under the UK Shared Prosperity Fund of almost £3M was also expected.  In 
total, around £85M of investment into the Borough was anticipated. 
 
In addition to the above, there were realistic opportunities to secure funding from the Arts 
Council, Heritage England and the National Lottery Heritage Fund.  Overall, some £100M of 
investment could be realised.  All political parties would be invited to take up a role in 
delivering this ambition.  Seats would be offered on the Cabinet to both Conservative and 
Labour councillors.  Members had an opportunity to set aside party differences to deliver 
historic change for the Borough.  The new Cabinet proposed was as follows: 
 

 Cllr Miles Parkinson OBE, Leader of the Council 

 Cllr Marlene Haworth, Deputy Leader and Leader of the Conservative Group 

 Cllr Munsif Dad BEM JP, Leader of the Labour Group (subject him accepting the 
role) 

 Cllr Peter Britcliffe, Deputy Leader of the Conservative Group 

 Cllr Joyce Plummer (subject her accepting the role) 

 Cllr Kath Pratt 

 Cllr Steven Smithson. 

Page 7



 
 
 

 

 
4 

 
The above executive team wold be tasked with putting the Borough and its residents first. 
 
Councillor Dad responded by thanking the Leader for his offer of a seat on the Cabinet.  He 
expressed disappointment that this offer had not been conveyed to him or discussed with 
him in advance of the meeting.  Rather, he felt that the announcement tonight had sought to 
undermine his position.  Councillor Dad indicated that he would decline the role, as there 
needed to be an effective Opposition to the controlling administration.  Nevertheless, he 
would give his support where this needed to be provided.  Councillor Dad was unable to 
speak for Councillor Plummer.  Councillor Dad undertook to support the Council by leading 
a challenging style of Opposition. 
 
Councillor McGinley asked the Leader to consider the appointment of a further Independent 
Member to the Cabinet.  He commented that the Independent Members represented a 
significant proportion of the Council. 
 

6 Confirmation of Minutes 
 
The Minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 24th March 2022 were submitted for 
approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes of the Council meeting held on the 

24th March 2022 be approved as a correct record.  
 

7 Declaration of the Returning Officer for the Local Elections on 5th May 2022 
 
The declaration of the Returning Officer of those elected at the local elections held on 5th 
May 2022 was submitted as follows:- 
 
 

Electoral Ward Name and Address of 
Elected Councillor 

 

Party 

Clayton-le-Moors Councillor Peter Edwards 
26 Ullswater Close 
Rishton  BB1 4EP 

Conservative 

Huncoat Councillor Danny Cassidy 
40 Stonebridge Lane 
Oswaldtwistle 
Accrington  BB5 3BW 

Conservative 

Immanuel Councillor Josh Allen 
71 Catlow Hall Street 
Oswaldtwistle 
Accrington  BB5 3EZ 

Conservative 

Milnshaw Councillor Andy Clegg 
43 Manor Street 
Accrington  BB5 6EE 

Labour 

Netherton Councillor Jodi Clements 
52 Orchard Street 
Great Harwood  BB6 7EE 

Labour & Co-operative 

Overton Councillor Scott Brerton 
16 Kipling Place 
Great Harwood  BB67JZ 

Labour 

Peel  Councillor Joyce Plummer Labour 

Page 8



 
 
 

 

 
5 

170 Bold Street 
Accrington  BB5 6SR 

Rishton Councillor Bernard Dawson 
4 Haywood Close 
Accrington  BB5 5DA 

Labour & Co-operative 

Spring Hill Councillor Kimberley 
Whitehead 
45 Warmden Avenue 
Accrington  BB5 2PR 

Labour & Co-operative 

St Andrew’s Councillor Steven Smithson 
30 Willow Park 
Oswaldtwistle 
Accrington  BB5 3QY 

Conservative 

St Oswald’s Councillor Marlene Haworth 
15 Cranbrook Avenue 
Oswaldtwistle 
Accrington  BB5 4NS 

Conservative 

St Oswald’s 
(Term of office until 2023) 

Councillor Zak Khan 
24 Aspen Fold 
Oswaldtwistle 
Accrington  BB5 4PH 

Conservative 

 
Resolved - To note the list of councillors elected on 5th May 

2022. 
 

8 Appointment of Committees, Sub-Committees, Panels and Working Groups 2022/23 
 
The Leader of the Council submitted proposals for the appointment of Committees, Sub-
Committees, Panels and Working Groups for the Municipal Year 2022/23, including the 
Terms of Reference for those bodies.  Proposals for the political balance were tabled at the 
meeting as an addendum to sections 4 and 5 of the report and the proposed membership of 
those bodies was tabled at the meeting as Appendix 3. 
 
The Leader commented that the earlier announcement from Councillor Harrison would 
cause a further change in the political balance of the Council, but that this could not be 
taken into account this evening. The Leader undertook to discuss any potential changes 
with party leaders at a later date. 
 
Councillor Parkinson advised of an alteration to the schedule of appointments tabled.  In 
respect of the Planning Committee, it was proposed to delete Councillor Pratt and add 
Councillor June Harrison, with the corresponding ratio of seats amended to 6:4:3. 
 
The Leader indicated that all parties were being actively engaged in appointments to the 
various committees and other bodies.  For example, there would be a position for a Labour 
Chair on the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  Councillor 
Dad noted that the Leader had offered some Chair positions to named Labour Members.  
He appreciated the offer of the seats, but expressed concern that the nominations should 
not be imposed by the Leader of the Council, but should be for the Labour Group to fill as it 
saw fit. 
 
An AMENDMENT was MOVED and SECONDED as follows: 
 
That the resolution proposed by Paragraph 2.3 of the report should read as follows: 
 

Page 9



 
 
 

 

 
6 

“That the membership of those Committees and Sub-Committees and the proposed Chairs 
and Vice-Chairs, as set out in Appendix 3 tabled at the meeting, be approved, subject to the 
alteration made to the Planning Committee membership to replace Councillor Pratt with 
Councillor June Harrison and except in the case of those Labour members already 
nominated to positions by the Leader of the Council which should remain vacant to 
be filled in accordance with the wishes of the Labour Group and that where details are 
not yet available, that the Chief Executive be authorised to approve the membership in 
consultation with the leader of the relevant political group and in the case of Independent 
Members in consultation with the Leader of the Council.” 
 
Councillor Fisher spoke in favour of the amendment.  Councillors Haworth and Parkinson 
spoke against the amendment. 
 
Members called for a recorded vote on the amendment. 
 
For the Amendment 
 
Councillor Abdul Khan (Mayor), Mohammad Ayub, Noordad Aziz, Scott Brerton, Andrew 
Clegg, Jodi Clements, Paul Cox, Munsif Dad BEM JP, Bernard Dawson, Melissa Fisher, 
Kate Walsh and Kimberley Whitehead. 
 
Against the Amendment 
 
Councillors Judith Addison, Dominik Allen, Josh Allen, Peter Britcliffe, Danny Cassidy, 
Peter Edwards, June Harrison, Marlene Haworth, Susan Hayes, Carole Haythornthwaite, 
Eamonn Higgins, Terry Hurn, Zak Khan, Sajid Mahmood, Patrick McGinley, Caroline 
Montague, Miles Parkinson OBE, Kath Pratt, Paddy Short and Steven Smithson. 
 
Abstentions 
 
Loraine Cox. 
 
Accordingly, the AMENDMENT was LOST. 
 
Members debated the substantive motion.  Councillor Dad commented that permission 
would be required from the Labour Party to be involved in a rainbow coalition.  He was 
disappointed that he had not been consulted about this possibility, as this would have been 
courteous.  He acknowledged that all parties would need to work together, but that he 
would need to determine the terms of that engagement.  The paper on membership of the 
committees had only been received yesterday evening leaving no time for discussion. 
 
The Leader summed up by indicated that all nominations were available to be voted upon 
by Council this evening.  He queried whether an unwillingness to vote for Labour chairs 
represented a lack of confidence in the nomination, or external influence being brought to 
bear. 
 
Members called for a recorded vote on the motion. 
 
For the Motion 
 
Councillors Judith Addison, Dominik Allen, Josh Allen, Peter Britcliffe, Danny Cassidy, 
Peter Edwards, June Harrison, Marlene Haworth, Susan Hayes, Carole Haythornthwaite, 
Eamonn Higgins, Terry Hurn, Zak Khan, Sajid Mahmood, Patrick McGinley, Caroline 
Montague, Miles Parkinson OBE, Kath Pratt, Paddy Short and Steven Smithson. 
 

Page 10



 
 
 

 

 
7 

Against the Motion 
 
Councillor Abdul Khan (Mayor), Mohammad Ayub, Noordad Aziz, Scott Brerton, Andrew 
Clegg, Jodi Clements, Munsif Dad BEM JP, Bernard Dawson, Melissa Fisher, Kate Walsh 
and Kimberley Whitehead. 
 
Abstentions 
 
Loraine Cox and Paul Cox. 
 
Accordingly, the MOTION was APPROVED. 
 
Resolved (1) That the terms of reference of Council, Cabinet and 

other constituted bodies, as outlined in Appendices 
1 and 2 of the report be approved. 

 
(2) That the political composition of Committees and 

Sub-Committees of the Council, as set out in 
Paragraph 4.8 of the addendum to the report, be 
approved, subject to the alteration made to the ratio 
of Planning Committee seats being 6:4:3. 

 
(3) That the membership of those Committees and Sub-

Committees and the proposed Chairs and Vice-
Chairs, as set out in Appendix 3 tabled at the 
meeting, be approved, subject to the alteration made 
to the Planning Committee membership to replace 
Councillor Pratt with Councillor June Harrison and 
that where details are not yet available, that the 
Chief Executive be authorised to approve the 
membership in consultation with the leader of the 
relevant political group and in the case of 
Independent Members in consultation with the 
Leader of the Council. 

 
(4) That the membership of Panels and Working 

Groups, together with the proposed Chairs, as set 
out in Appendix 3 tabled at the meeting, be 
approved and that where details are not yet 
available, that the Chief Executive be authorised to 
approve the membership in consultation with the 
leader of the relevant political group and in the case 
of Independent Members in consultation with the 
Leader of the Council. 

 
(5) That a Councillor unable to attend a meeting, of 

which he/she is a member, be authorised to appoint 
a Councillor not serving on that particular 
Committee, Sub-Committee, Panel or Working 
Group to act as a substitute in accordance with 
Council Procedure Rule A26.8. 

 
9 Appointments to Outside Bodies 2022/23 

 

Page 11



 
 
 

 

 
8 

A report relating to the appointment of Council representatives to Outside Bodies and 
Organisations for the Municipal Year 2022/23 was submitted for approval.  The report 
included information on an additional internal role to be added to the list in 2022/23, 
regarding a Mental Health Champion.  The proposed appointments were tabled at the 

meeting as Appendix A to the report. 
 
In accordance with the Council’s Procedure Rule A1.2(x), the Council was required to 
receive nominations and make appointments to outside bodies and organisations, except 
where appointment to those bodies had been delegated by the Council or was exercisable 
only by the Executive. 
 
Councillor Addison commented that it was a good idea to have diverse representation on 
outside bodies, as often these appointments were not political roles, but were mainly about 
providing advice, support and good communication channels with the Council. 
 
The Leader commented that traditionally these appointments had been made mostly from 
Members of the controlling group on the Council.  On this occasion, the nominations 
included several Opposition representatives.  The Leader had also proposed the 
appointment of a small number of independent persons to serve on outside bodies, 
including Ken Moss to serve on the Leisure in Hyndburn Board. 
 
Resolved - That the appointments to Outside Bodies and 

Organisations for the Municipal Year 2022/23, as set out 
in Appendix A to the report as tabled at the meeting, be 
approved.  

 
10 Scheme of Delegation 2022/23 

 
The Council’s constitution required that the scheme of delegation to officers was approved 
each year at the Annual Meeting.  It was also good practice to review the scheme of 
delegation regularly to keep it up to date.  This helped to ensure that the Council’s decision-
making processes operated as effectively as possible and in accordance with legal 
requirements. 
 
In accordance with The Local Government & Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, the 
Council had adopted the “Leader and Cabinet Executive (England) model” with effect from 
the 9th May 2011.  By law, the Leader of the Council was now required to allocate 
responsibility for the Council’s executive functions and this included approving the Council’s 
scheme of delegation of executive functions.  The delegations set out in Part 2 of the 
scheme appended to the report would therefore be submitted to the Leader of the Council 
for approval after the Annual Meeting. 
 
Very few amendments were proposed to the scheme of delegation for 2022/23. The 
changes that had been made related to: 
 
(i) changes to officer duties and responsibilities and, in particular, the creation of the new 

Head of Environmental Health role; 
 
(ii) an amendment to the Chief Planning & Transportation Officer’s (CPTO) power to 

determine major planning applications under delegated powers.  The draft scheme 
required the CPTO to consult the Chair of Planning and the Shadow Chair Planning 
prior to determination of major planning applications and to refer the same to Planning 
Committee should this be requested; 

 

Page 12



 
 
 

 

 
9 

(iii) an increase of the Head of Regeneration & Housing’s power to award housing 
renewal assistance from £30,000 to £50,000 (subject to budget availability) to reflect 
increased costs, particularly as the delegation amount had not been increased for 
many years; 

 
(iv) a proposed new delegation to the Head of Regeneration & Housing to dispose of 

items from the Howarth Art Gallery collection up to a value of £25,000 subject to 
consultation with the Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder and subject to 
compliance with the Museum Association’s Code of Ethics, which set out good 
practice in connection with such disposals;  

 
(v) a proposed new delegation to the Head of Regeneration & Housing to dispose of 

public open space up to a value of £75,000, subject to the Council complying with its 
obligation to advertise proposed disposals of public open space pursuant to section 
123 Local Government Act 1972 and subject to the sale being at market value.  This 
was intended to reduce the administrative burden of disposing of small areas of public 
open space.  Officers had in recent years sought to sell small areas of public open 
space where these were surplus to requirements and represented a liability to the 
Council. 

 
The proposed scheme of delegation for 2022/23 was set out as a schedule to the report.  
 
The Leader of the Council advised of an alteration to the proposal at (ii) above, which 
referred to the delegation set out at Item 8 at the top of Page 26 of Part 4 of Appendix 4 of 
the Responsibility for Functions of the constitution.  The amendment as revised would 
require, additionally, that the Vice Chair of the Planning Committee should be consulted.  
Councillors Addison, Dad and Haworth spoke in favour of the alteration.  Councillor Addison 
commented that Member oversight of planning applications had been weakened for a time 
by the problems with the Planning software’s search facility, but Members now received a 
weekly update sheet. 
 
Resolved That, subject to the above-mentioned alteration in 

respect of amendment (ii), the Council agrees the 
scheme of delegation to officers as attached in the 
schedule to this report. 

 
11 Review of the Constitution 

 
Members considered a report of the Executive Director (Legal and Democratic Services) on 
a review of the constitution.  The Council was required by law to have a written constitution.  
The Council’s written constitution was reviewed regularly and a copy of the constitution was 
available on the Council’s website.  As a result of a recent review a number of amendments 
to the constitution had been proposed for approval. 
 
Anti-Fraud And Corruption Strategy / Anti-Money Laundering Policy / Criminal Facilitation of 
Tax Evasion Policy 
 
These documents were provided with the report as Appendices A, B and C respectively. 
Each document had been reviewed and updated by the Head of Internal Audit and the 
Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services) to ensure they reflected recent legislation 
and best practice guidance.  If approved, the intention was to deliver staff training in respect 
of these policies to help ensure that the Council maintained sound systems of financial 
management and to reduce the risk of the Council being affected by fraud or financial 
irregularity. 
 

Page 13



 
 
 

 

 
10 

The Anti-Fraud & Corruption and Bribery Policy had been in existence since 2003 and had 
been amended to include the Bribery Act 2010.  The Policy set out the expectations 
surrounding fraud, corruption and bribery, together with guidance on what to do if financial 
irregularity was found or suspected.  The Policy was checked annually and was updated 
when necessary.  The only change this year had been in relation to the External Audit 
contact details which had been changed to reflect the Council’s new External Auditors, 
Mazars. 
 
The Anti-Money Laundering Policy had been in existence since 2005 and had been 
periodically updated to reflect legislative and regulation changes.  The policy gave clear 
instruction on what to do if money laundering was suspected.  The Policy had been updated 
this year to make reference to the 2017 Regulations which did not specifically impact the 
Council.  The cash limit had been increased from £1,000 to £3,000, bringing Hyndburn in 
line with most other Local Authorities.  The threshold had never been increased since the 
policy had been introduced.  The External Audit contact details had also been updated to 
reflect the change to Mazars, and the employees listed in Appendix 2 had been updated to 
ensure all were still current. 
 
The Criminal Facilitation of Tax Evasion Policy was a brand new policy which the Council 
needed to have in place.  The policy set out how the Council would deal with tax evasion 
and linked back to the legislation (The Criminal Finance Act 2017).  Having such a policy in 
place and having communicated it to all staff could act as a defence for the Council in the 
event something was to occur which was then investigated by Her Majesty’s Revenues & 
Customs and/or the Police.  There were close links between fraud, corruption, bribery and 
also money laundering and proceeds of crime issues.  The Council had an obligation to 
take measures to prevent tax evasion and to support this it had procedures, systems, 
controls and policies in place to prevent tax evasion from occurring in the first instance. 
 
Articles of the constitution 
 
The Articles were intended to be a user-friendly summary of the constitution to assist the 
public to understand the Council’s decision making and management arrangements.  These 
had been updated primarily to reflect legislative changes, recent changes in officer roles 
and responsibilities, and to make them as easy to read as possible. 
 
Member Code of Conduct 
 
In 2019 the Committee of Standards in Public Life had published a report entitled “Local 
Government Ethical Standards”, which made a range of recommendations in respect of 
councillor codes of conduct.  In June 2020 the LGA began work on a model code of 
conduct for members and this had now been published, together with very lengthy and 
comprehensive guidance document.  There was no national councillor code of conduct and 
each Council was able to adopt its own, leading to varying standards and expectations 
across the country.  The LGA model code was an attempt to set out a minimum set of 
obligations for councillors to promote public confidence in local governance arrangements 
and the LGA was urging all councils to adopt the new model code, either in whole or in part.  
Following recent consultation with the Standards Committee and a rise in the number of 
standards complaints in 2021/22, Members would shortly be consulted on the LGA model 
code. 
 
Special Overview an Scrutiny Committee 
 
The Leader reminded Members that a further amendment would be required at Appendix 1 
of Part 3 - Responsibility for Functions, to provide for the terms of reference of the new 
Special Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  This Committee would have an overview of 

Page 14



 
 
 

 

 
11 

Levelling Up, Accrington Town Centre Improvement, the County Deal and Devolution.  The 
Committee would comprise 6 councillors and it was recommended that a maximum of 2 
non-voting co-opted members be permitted, whose appointment would be agreed at a 
future Council meeting. 
 
Councillor Dad welcomed the creation of this Committee as the Council stood to receive a 
large amount of funding through these initiatives.  The Leader added that potentially almost 
£100m could be attracted into the area.   The Strategic Partnership Board and other 
agencies would have an involvement in deliberating how the money was spent.  It was also 
fortuitous that this year Councillor Peter Britcliffe was Chairman of the County Council.  
Lancashire County Council’s investment could see improvements to Junction 8 M65, 
Accrington railway station and other major infrastructure projects.  Such large scale 
investment required all Members to work together alongside the MP.  This was a step 
change from the usual capital programme spend, which had been around only £1m 
annually for a number of years.  The County Deal and Devolution could potentially bring in 
a further £5.6m and required all 14 Lancashire district councils to work together. 
 
Resolved That Council: 
 

(1) Approves the draft Anti-Fraud And Corruption 
Strategy, the draft Anti-Money Laundering 
Policy and the draft Criminal Facilitation Of Tax 
Evasion Policy (set out respectively as 
Appendices A, B and C of the report) for 
inclusion within the Council’s written 
constitution; and 
 

(2) Approves the updated Articles of the 
constitution attached as Appendix D; 
 

(3) Notes that the Member Code of Conduct, will 
be reviewed during 2022/23 and that further 
reports will be submitted to Council in due 
course in respect of the same 
 

(4) Notes that consequential amendments will be 
required to Appendix 1 of Part 3 - 
Responsibility for Functions of the 
constitution, to provide for the terms of 
reference of the new Special Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, as outlined above. 

 
12 Annual Review of Planning and Licensing Codes of Practice 

 
A report seeking approval of the Planning and Licensing Codes of Practice following an 
annual review of the same was submitted.  Local Authorities were recommended, as a 
matter of good practice, to supplement their Member Code of Conduct with specific Codes 
of Practice to assist Members involved in the planning and licensing processes.  These 
were complex areas, involving quasi-judicial decision-making and the codes were designed 
to give members guidance about dealing with the difficult issues that could arise – such as 
conflicts of interest, dealing with applicants, possible bias and predetermination etc. 
 
There were only a few, minor changes to the codes proposed this year.  The changes were 
intended to: 
 

Page 15



 
 
 

 

 
12 

 better explain the Council’s requirements in respect of possible predetermination of 
applications; and 

 make the documents clearer to read. 
 
Following a recommendation of the Member Learning & Development Panel in 2016, 
members sitting on Planning and Licensing / Judicial Committees were required to have 
undergone training before they served on the Committee and took part in decision making. 
 
It was intended that all members serving on the Planning, Licensing and Judicial 
Committees would receive training in respect of their respective code of practice as soon as 
possible after approval of the codes of conduct.  These sessions would be as short and 
informal as possible and would be delivered by Legal Services staff and their Planning and 
Licensing colleagues at no additional cost to the Council.  
 
Resolved (1) That Council approves the Planning Code of 

Practice and Licensing Code of Practice as 
appended to the report. 

 
(2) That Council notes that training will be arranged for 

all members of the Planning and Licensing 
Committees in respect of their respective code of 
practice as soon as possible in the new municipal 
year. 

 
13 Timetable of Meetings 2022/23 

 
The proposed Timetable of Meetings for 2022/23 was submitted for approval.  It was noted 
that there was some flexibility around agreed dates, subject to consultation with Chairs, 
Vice-Chairs and the political party leaders about any in-year changes. 
 
Resolved - That the Timetable of Meetings for 2022/23 be approved.  
 

14 Nominations for the Title of Honorary Freeman 
 
A report was provided seeking approval to the conferment of the title of Honorary Freeman 
of the Borough of Hyndburn on Mrs Sarah Barton and Mr Andrew Holt. 
 
Mrs Sarah Barton 
 
Members were informed of Sarah’s lifetime of voluntary service across a wide range of 
organisations, including Brownies, Beaver Scouts, Accrington and District Blind Society, 
Accrington Community Events Team and in Oswaldtwistle the Carnival, Christmas Lights 
Switch-On and Royal British Legion branch.  Sarah’s efforts in numerous voluntary roles 
demonstrated that she had rendered eminent service to the Borough of Hyndburn. 
 
Mr Andrew Holt 
 
Members noted Andy’s long directorship of What More UK (trading as Wham), which was 
an internationally renowned and multiple award winning company, whose manufacturing 
base was in Altham and which was a significant local employer.  Andy’s ownership and 
investment in Accrington Stanley FC had helped to make the Club’s finances more 
sustainable and its links with the Accrington Stanley Community Trust had helped to tackle 
health and wellbeing issues.  Andy’s contribution to business and the local economy and 
his willingness to put something back into the wider community demonstrated that he had 
rendered eminent service to the Borough of Hyndburn. 

Page 16



 
 
 

 

 
13 

 
The title of Honorary Freeman would recognise the achievements and services of both Mrs 
Barton and Mr Holt. 
 
The Leader of the Council and Councillor Munsif Dad and Marlene Haworth spoke in favour 
of the nominees for the Freeman awards. 
 
A vote was then taken, which was passed unanimously, and which therefore met the 
requirement that approval be given by not less than two thirds of the members present who 
voted on it. 
 
Resolved (1) That in accordance with Section 249(5) of the Local 

Government Act 1972, Mrs Sarah Barton and Mr 
Andrew Holt be conferred with the title of Honorary 
Freeman of the Borough and be presented with the 
award at the Mayor Making Council due to be held 
on 21st May 2022, or should that not prove possible 
due to the unavailability of the recipients, at some 
stage during the remainder of the Municipal Year 
2022/23. 

 
(2) That the Chief Executive, in consultation with the 

Leader of the Council, be authorised to make the 
necessary arrangements. 

 
15 Record of Attendance at Council Meetings 2021/22 

 
A report relating to the annual attendance of Members at Council meetings held in 2022/23 
was submitted for information.  The report, detailing the attendance of Councillors at eligible 
meetings of the Council, was submitted each year to the Annual Meeting of the Council. 
 
Resolved - That the report be noted. 
 
The Mayor reminded newly elected Councillors that they were advised not to vote on the 
following item, as the relevant dispensations had not yet been granted. 
 

16 Council Tax Energy Rebate Discretionary Fund 
 
Members considered a report of Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, 
which informed the Council of funding that had been made available from the Department 
for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) to assist local households with the 
rising cost of living, and which sought approval of a policy to distribute that funding in 
accordance with the guidance issued by DLUHC in February 2022.  In the absence of 
Councillor Plummer, the Leader of the Council highlighted key information within the report. 
 
The Government had announced a package of support known as the Energy Bills Rebate 
to help households with rising energy bills, worth £9.1 billion in 2022-23.  This had included:  
 

 A £150 non-repayable rebate for households in England in Council Tax bands A to 
D, known as the Council Tax Rebate. 

 £144 million of discretionary funding for billing authorities to support households 
who were in need but were not eligible for the Council Tax Rebate, known as the 
Discretionary Fund. 

 

Page 17



 
 
 

 

 
14 

The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) had made £215,250 
available to the Council to provide support to households through the Discretionary Fund 
that were not eligible for existing support linked to the main Council Tax Energy Rebate 
scheme. 
 
The Council needed to approve a policy to administer the distribution the funds available in 
an appropriate way and this policy was summarised in the report and set out in detail as 
Appendix 1.  The report also included as Appendices 2 and 3 respectively, a Customer First 
Analysis and a copy of the latest DLUHC guidance in relation to this scheme.  The policy 
approval would cover all future payments awarded under this funding heading, should the 
scheme be extended or additional funding be made available by the Government. 
 
The Council was under time pressure to invite applications for the Discretionary Fund as 
quickly as possible, and intended to have the application process operating on the 
authority’s website during late May 2022/early June 2022.  After evaluation of the 
applications received against the eligibility criteria, the Council would expect to be able to 
commence allocation of awards from the Discretionary Fund from 01 July 2022. 
 
Resolved (1) That the Council Tax Energy Rebate Discretionary 

Fund Scheme 2022/2023 attached to the report as 
Appendix 1, is approved and the application process 
for households is made available as soon as is 
reasonably practicable in order to provide support 
to households by the final payment date of 30 
November 2022. 

 
(2) That the Deputy Chief Executive is given delegated 

power to make amendments to the Council Tax 
Energy Rebate Discretionary Fund Scheme to give 
effect to any future changes to Government 
requirements and to make other minor adjustments 
to the scheme to aid in its smooth administration.  
This delegated authority is requested for the 
duration of the Council Tax Energy Rebate 
Discretionary Fund scheme (currently up to 30 
November 2022) so that the Council’s management 
of the Council Tax Energy Rebate Discretionary 
Fund in Hyndburn remains dynamic and responsive 
to household needs. 

 
In accordance with s.100B(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended), the 
Mayor was of the opinion that the following item should be considered at the meeting as a 
matter of urgency, in view of the desirability of considering the appointment of co-optees to 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committees at the same time as the other appointments to 
committees. 
 

17 Appointment of Co-optees to Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
 
Members considered a report of the Leader of the Council on recommendations for the 
appointment of co-opted members to the Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 
 
The Councils Constitution, Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule C2 stated: 
 

Page 18



 
 
 

 

 
15 

“Up to four members of the public may be appointed to each Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee as non-voting co-optees, if they are deemed to have relevant experience of 
matters falling within the remit of that Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  
 

(i) Co-optees may be appointed following nomination by a councillor or following an 
application received directly from a member of the public.  

 
(ii) Applications received directly from the public will be considered first at the relevant 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The Committee will consider the knowledge and 
experience of the applicant relevant to the terms of reference or work programme of 
the Committee.  If the majority of the Overview and Scrutiny members support the 
appointment of the applicant, the proposed appointment will be presented to Council 
for approval. 

 
(iii) Nominations received from councillors will be presented to the Council for approval, 

if supported by the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  In 
reaching a decision, the Council will consider the knowledge and experience of the 
nominee relevant to the terms of reference or work programme of the Committee.” 

 
Two current co-optees (Councillor Bernard Dawson and Councillor Kimberley Whitehead) 
had been elected as Councillors at the 2022 local elections, meaning they would now have 
to vacate their positions as Overview and Scrutiny Committee co-optees.  Councillor 
Bernard Dawson was a co-optee on both committees, and Councillor Kimberley Whitehead 
was a co-optee on the Communities and Wellbeing Committee.  
 
In addition to a previous vacancy, this had left two vacancies on each Committee. 
 
Paul Barton had previously been nominated to the Resources Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.  Paul was an Honorary Alderman, former Councillor, previous Mayor and a 
local businessman, and was currently a co-optee on the Communities and Wellbeing 
Committee.  The Resources Committee had voted to support this nomination, which would 
now require approval by the Council. 
 
Jenny Molineux, formerly a Councillor, Cabinet member and Chair of the Communities and 
Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee had been nominated to fill one of the 
vacancies on the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee by the 
Leader of the Council.  This would also require approval by the Council. 
 
Ken Moss, formerly a Councillor, Cabinet member and Chair of the Resources Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee had been nominated to fill the remaining vacancy on the 
Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee by the Leader of the Council.  This would 
also require approval by the Council. 
 
At the meeting, the Leader of the Council announced that he wished to nominate 
Bernadette Parkinson, formerly a councillor and Vice Chair of the Communities and 
Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee to fill the remaining vacancy on the 
Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  The nomination would 
require approval by the Council. 
 
Should the above appointments be confirmed, there would remain two vacancies on the 
Special Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
The existing co-optee membership for each committee was as follows: 
 
Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Page 19



 
 
 

 

 
16 

 
 Doug Hayes 
 Stephen Button 
 
Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
 Jean Battle 
 Paul Barton 
 
Resolved (1) That Council approves the appointment of Jenny 

Molineux and Bernadette Parkinson as co-optees to 
the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. 

 
(2) That Council approves the appointment of Paul 

Barton and Ken Moss as co-optees to the Resources 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 
(3) That Council approves that the above appointments 

be made until the end of the 2023/24 Municipal Year. 
 

(4) That Council notes that, should the above 
appointments be approved, there remain two 
vacancies for co-optees on the Special Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee, which may be filled in-year 
with approval from Council. 

 
On behalf of the Council, Councillor Josh Allen thanked the two Police Officers who had 
attended this evening in response to intelligence around potential disruption to the meeting 
by some members of the public, although this had not materialised. 
 
The Mayor thanked everyone for their attendance and looked forward to seeing Members at 
the Mayor Making Council and celebration on Saturday. 
 

 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
at which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 20



 

 
1 

 
COUNCIL 

 

 
Saturday, 21st May, 2022 

 
Present:  Councillor Abdul Khan (Mayor), Councillors Judith Addison, Josh Allen, 

Mohammad Ayub, Noordad Aziz, Peter Britcliffe, Danny Cassidy, 
Andrew Clegg, Jodi Clements, Loraine Cox, Paul Cox, 
Munsif Dad BEM JP, Bernard Dawson, Melissa Fisher, June Harrison, 
Marlene Haworth, Eamonn Higgins, Terry Hurn, Patrick McGinley, 
Caroline Montague, Miles Parkinson OBE, Joyce Plummer, Kath Pratt, 
Steven Smithson, Kate Walsh and Kimberley Whitehead 
 

Apologies: Councillors Dominik Allen, Scott Brerton, Peter Edwards, Susan Hayes, 
Carole Haythornthwaite, Zak Khan, Sajid Mahmood and Paddy Short 

  

 
18 Welcome 

 
The Chief Executive, Mr David Welsby, welcomed Honorary Freemen, Honorary Aldermen, 
Past Mayors, Councillors, special guests Mr Muhammad Tariq Wazir, Consul General of 
Pakistan in Manchester and Sara Britcliffe MP, as well as friends, family and other guests to 
the 2022/23 Mayor Making Ceremony, to install the Mayor of the Borough. 
 

19 Declaration of Mayor - 2022/23 
 
The Chief Executive announced that at the Annual Meeting of the Council held on 19th May 
2022, Councillor Abdul Ghafar Khan had been elected Mayor of the Borough for the 
Municipal Year 2022/23.  The Mayor read the Declaration of Acceptance of Office of Mayor 
and was presented with the Mayoral Fob by Councillor Kath Pratt, Mayor in 2021/22.  
Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE gave a speech of welcome, which was supported by 
Councillors Munsif Dad BEM JP and Peter Britcliffe. 
 
The Mayor began with the traditional Islamic greeting salam alaikum (peace be upon you).  
He then made his speech of acceptance, in which he thanked his predecessor Councillor 
Pratt and congratulated the new Deputy Mayor and Deputy Mayoress, Councillor Terry 
Hurn and Mrs Jean Hurn.  He also thanked colleagues, mentors and numerous family 
members and, in particular, his wife and new Mayoress, Bushra Khan. 
 
The Mayor concluded by announcing his chosen charities for the year as follows:- 
 

 Macmillan Cancer Support 

 Lancashire Air Ambulance 

 East Lancashire Hospice 

 Accrington and District Blind Society 
 

20 Declaration of Deputy Mayor - 2022/23 
 
The Mayor announced that at the Annual Meeting of the Council held on 19th May 2022, 
Councillor Terry Hurn had been elected Deputy Mayor of the Borough for the Municipal 
Year 2022/23.  The Deputy Mayor read the Declaration of Acceptance of Office of Deputy 
Mayor. 
 

Page 21



 
 
 

 

 
2 

Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE gave a brief welcome speech, which was supported by 
Councillors Marlene Haworth and Munsif Dad BEM JP. 
 
The Leader of the Council then proposed a formal vote of thanks to the retiring Mayor.  
Councillor Pratt gave a brief speech about her year as Mayor and its many high points.  
She was very proud to have raised around £11k for her chosen charities.  She thanked the 
staff who had supported her and the hardworking members of her Charity Committee.  The 
Mayor then presented flowers and the Past Mayor’s badge to Councillor Pratt and a small 
gift to her husband and Consort, Barrie Pratt.  Some flowers were also displayed to be 
presented to her Mayoress, Councillor Judith Addison, who was temporarily unavailable at 
this point in the ceremony. 
 

21 Conferment of the Title of Honorary Freeman 
 
Members were reminded that two days ago, in pursuance of Section 249(5) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the title of Honorary Freeman had been conferred on Mrs Sarah 
Barton for her contribution to voluntary and charity services in the Borough of Hyndburn and 
on Mr Andrew Holt for his contribution to business and the local economy and sporting 
community in the Borough of Hyndburn. 
 
At the invitation of the Mayor, the Leader of the Council gave a short speech to introduce 
Mrs Barton and to welcome her and her family and friends to the Council Chamber.  
Councillors Marlene Haworth and Munsif Dad BEM JP and the Chief Executive each said a 
few words in support of the award.  Thereupon, Mrs Barton signed the Roll of Honour and 
the Mayor presented her with a bouquet of flowers.  Sarah then gave a short speech to 
accept the honour.   
 
The Leader next gave a brief speech to introduce Andy Holt and to welcome him and his 
family and friends to the event.  Councillors Marlene Haworth and Munsif Dad BEM JP and 
the Chief Executive each said a few words of congratulation.  Thereupon, Mr Holt signed 
the Roll of Honour and the Mayor presented him with a humorous novelty item and a small 
gift.  Andy then gave a short speech to accept the honour.  
 
The Mayor congratulated all the recipients of the Freeman award.  He also proposed that a 
similar honour being conferred next year on Jawid Hussain, former director of Accrol, who 
was well-known for his various companies’ investments in local business and in community 
projects in Hyndburn. 
 
The Mayor thanked all for attending and asked invited guests to join him shortly in the 
Ballroom for the Civic Celebration meal. 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
at which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 22



 

REPORT TO: Council 

DATE: 30 June 2022 

REPORT AUTHOR: Julian Joinson, Member Services Manager 

TITLE OF REPORT: Question Time 

1) Islamophobia 
2) Indices of Multiple Deprivation 
3) Debate and Fresh Ideas… 
4) Clayton Triangle 
5) Swimming Facilities in Great Harwood 
 

EXEMPT REPORT:  No  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication: n/a 

 

Questions to Council 
 
Questions for the Leader of the Council, a member of the Cabinet, or a Committee Chair may 
be submitted by councillors or by member of the public, under Council Procedure Rule 2.2(vi).  
 
Procedural Note 
 

 The questions will be read out by the Mayor 

 The Leader or other councillor, as appropriate, will give an oral answer. 

 The questioner, if a councillor, may ask a supplementary question, if it is directly 
related to the original question 

 
The following questions have been submitted:- 
 
1) Islamophobia 
 
To the Leader of the Council (Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE) 
 
On Thursday 4th July 2019, Hyndburn Borough Council adopted the Definition of 
Islamophobia agreed by the All-Party Parliamentary Group (APPG) on British Muslims 
 
Does the Council and the Council Leader agree that all incidents of Islamophobia are 
abhorrent and have no place in Hyndburn? 
 
What steps has the council taken to train staff and councillors on Islamophobia? 
 
What Council policy and procedure documents now includes reference to the Islamophobia 
definition 
 
What engagement has the council had with Hyndburn Muslim community to address incidents 
of Islamophobia related to Council? 
Italics 

Page 23

Agenda Item 5.



 

 
Submitted by Councillor Mohamad Ayub 
Date: 20 June 2022 (11:49) 
 
 
2) Indices of Multiple Deprivation 
 
To the Leader of the Council (Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE) and Deputy Leader of 
the Council (Councillor Marlene Haworth) 
 
The Indices of Multiple Deprivation under the leadership of the current coalition over 23 years 
has moved the Borough from 54th to 16th most deprived.  Do the two leaders accept 
responsibility for the official figures and what are the leadership going to do to change this? 
 
Submitted by Councillor Kate Walsh 
Date: 20 June 2022 (11:55) 
 
 
3) Debate and Fresh Ideas is a Great Thing for Democracy 
 
To the Leader of the Council (Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE) 
 
Prior to Covid, there was no limit to the number of motions any councillor could submit? 
 
Motions submitted and passed from this Council have shaped policy and discussion at 
County Hall and Parliament.  You only have to look at the documents that are presented for 
the case for Skipton to Colne Rail Link.  They now begin the journey from Accrington to 
Yorkshire. 
 
When is the limit going to be removed for the number motions as we are now in a post Covid 
era? 
 
Submitted by Councillor Noordad Aziz 
Date: 20 June 2022 (12:01) 
 
 
4) Clayton Triangle 
 
To the Leader of the Council (Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE) 
 
Is Clayton Triangle still progressing? 
 
Submitted by Mr Tim O’Kane (address supplied) 
Date: 20 June 2022 (12:13) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



 

5) Swimming Facilities in Great Harwood 
 
To the Deputy Leader of the Council (Councillor Marlene Haworth) 
 
During the recent local election in Great Harwood, both Labour and Conservative candidates 
campaigned for swimming facilities to remain in Great Harwood, as did local MP Sara 
Britcliffe.  Will the Conservative Group continue to commit to retaining swimming facilities in 
Great Harwood? 
 
Submitted by Councillor Scott Brerton 
Date: 20 June 2022 (12:25) 
 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 5 
 

REPORT TO: Council 

DATE:  30th June 2022 

PORTFOLIO: Resources – Cllr Joyce Plummer 

REPORT AUTHOR: Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services) 

TITLE OF REPORT: Constitution Update 

EXEMPT REPORT:  No  

  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 

  

1. Purpose of Report 

 

1.1 To propose a number of further updates to the Council’s written constitution 

 

2. Recommendations  

 

2.1     That Council: 

i. Agrees to amend the Council Procedure Rules to remove the current limit on 

motions of one per Group at each Council meeting; and 

ii. Approves amend the Council Procedure Rules to add the revised restrictions on 

motions proposed in paragraph 3.2 of the report; and 

iii. Agrees to amend the composition of the Leaders Policy Development Board as 

set out in paragraph 3.3 of the report; and 

iv. Agrees to amend the Scheme Of Delegation To Officers  as set out in 
paragraph 3.4 of the report in respect of the Flying The Flag Policy; and 

v. Agrees to amend the Council Procedure Rules as set out in paragraph 3.5 of 
the report in respect of those to be consulted when decisions are taken under 
emergency powers; 

 

3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 

 

3.1    The Council is required by law to have a written constitution. The Council’s written 

constitution is reviewed regularly and a copy of the constitution is available on the 

Council’s website. A further review of the constitution has recently taken place to: 

Page 27

Agenda Item 6.



Page 2 of 5 
 

           (i) ensure the constitution takes account of the Council’s new political management 

arrangements; and  

          (ii) determine whether the current restrictions on motions are still appropriate given the 

relaxation of Covid restrictions; 

           and, following consultation with the Leader’s Policy Development Board, a  number of 

amendments to the constitution are proposed for approval. 

3.2      Motions 

It is proposed that the current limit on the number of motions (to one per group) is 

removed, but to facilitate the conclusion of meetings by 10.00pm, it is proposed that: 

- Debate is limited to a maximum of 20 minutes per motion; and 

- A maximum of 1.5 hours is allowed for motions at each Council meeting (with the 

suspension of standing orders being required as previously to permit a meeting to 

go on beyond 10.00pm); and 

- Any motions not debated by the end of a Council  meeting will require 

resubmission in order to be included on the agenda at the next Council meeting, 

rather than being automatically carried over to the next agenda). 

3.3     Leaders Policy Development Board 

Membership of this body currently comprises: Leader of Council, Deputy Leader of 

Council,1 Cabinet member, Leader and Deputy of the main opposition group and 

           Leaders of any minority political groups. The current wording could cause an issue if 

the leader of the largest political group isn’t leader or deputy leader of the Council.  

           It is therefore proposed to close the potential loophole by revising potential 

membership to include: 

Leader of Council 

Deputy Leader of Council 

1 Cabinet member, 

 Leader and Deputy of the main opposition group 

            Leaders of any other political groups. 

3.4      Scheme of delegation 

When determining exceptions to our Flying The Flag policy the Chief Executive is 

currently required to consult with the Mayor and political group leaders, which would 

exclude the Leader of the Council. 

It is proposed to change this to the Mayor, Leader of the Council and group leaders. 

3.5      Council Procedure Rules 

Currently urgent Committee / Sub-Committee decisions can be taken by the Chief 
Executive following consultation with: 

Page 28



Page 3 of 5 
 

Chair and Vice Chair if they are from different political groups; or 

           Chair and Vice Chair, plus main opposition group spokesperson for the Committee / 

Sub-Committee. 

This has ensured that our urgency process involves consultation with the political groups. 
However, this doesn’t take account of Independent Chairs and Vice Chairs, doesn’t allow for 
the possible formation of new groups and it doesn’t allow for situations where we may have, 
say, a Labour Chair and an Independent Vice Chair, as at least one political group would not 
be consulted. 

It is therefore proposed that the Council Procedure Rules are amended to require consultation 
as follows: 

Chair and Vice Chair, plus the main spokesperson for each other political group represented 

on the Committee / Sub-Committee. 

 

4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 

 

4.1     None, although members could chose to reject any of the proposed amendments. 

 

5. Consultations 

 

5.1 The Leaders Policy Development Board was consulted in respect of these proposals 

and agreed them for presentation to full Council. 

 

6. Implications 

 

Financial implications (including 

mainstreaming) 

 

None. 

Legal and human rights 

implications 

 

None. However, it is part of good governance 

to keep the constitution under regular review 

and up to date. 

Assessment of risk 

 

None 

Equality and diversity implications 

A Customer First Analysis should be 

completed in relation to policy 

decisions and should be attached as 

an appendix to the report.  

None identified. 

 

 

7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  

Page 29

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


Page 4 of 5 
 

 

 None 

 

8. Freedom of Information 

 

8.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 

 Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information  

 Act 2000. 

 

Page 30



Page 5 of 5 
 

 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 
CABINET 

 

 
Wednesday, 16th March, 2022 

 
Present:  Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair), Councillors Paul Cox (Vice 

Chair), Loraine Cox, Munsif Dad BEM JP and Joyce Plummer 
 

In Attendance: Councillors Peter Britcliffe and June Harrison 

  

 
289 Apologies for Absence 

 
Apologies were submitted on behalf of Councillor Marlene Haworth, who was a standing 
invitee to the meeting as Leader of the Opposition. 
 

290 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
There were no reported declarations of interest or dispensations. 
 

291 Minutes of Cabinet 
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 9th February 2022 were submitted for 
approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a 

correct record. 
 

292 Minutes of Boards, Panels and Working Groups 
 
The minutes of the following meeting were submitted: 
 

 Cabinet Waste and Recycling Group – 20th January 2022 

 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and noted. 
 

293 Urgent Decisions Taken 
 
In accordance with Executive Procedure Rule B16(c), Members considered a report on the 
following decision taken under the urgency procedure: 
 

No. Decision Heading Portfolio Holder Date of Approval 

(a) Hyndburn Youth Hub Councillor Munsif Dad 
BEM JP 

23rd February 2022 

 
Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, Leader of the Council, commented that the Youth Hub 
was good news for Hyndburn and would involve the Council working in partnership again 
with Community Solutions North West Ltd to deliver a project to tackle youth unemployment 
issues. 
 
Resolved - To note the report on urgent decisions taken. 
 

294 Reports of Cabinet Members 

Page 33

Agenda Item 7.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

 
295 Town Centre Investment Plan and Levelling Up Funding Bid Submission 

 
Members considered a report of Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, Leader of the Council, 
seeking approval for the Town Centre Investment Plan (TCIP) and the proposed 
interventions to be included within the Council’s Levelling Up Funding (LUF) bid 
submission. 
 
The Leader highlighted the main priorities within the TCIP and indicated that the Levelling 
Up Fund bid would be submitted shortly. The TCIP had been drawn together by key 
businesses and partners in Hyndburn. 
 
Councillor Peter Britcliffe, Joint Deputy Leader of the Opposition, welcomed the work done 
so far and hoped that the bid would be a success.  He asked if there was any indication yet 
as to what would emerge from Lancashire County Council’s LUF bid, which was believed to 
be in excess of £50m.  It was hoped that Hyndburn would receive its fair share of any 
funding received by the County Council.  The Leader responded that Lancashire was still 
developing its bid and was likely to submit this at the end of March 2022.  A presentation 
had been made to East Lancashire leaders and officers by County Councillor Phillippa 
Williamson, Leader of LCC, last week.  East Lancashire was the primary area for their bid, 
which would focus on neighbourhoods and transportation.  Hyndburn stood to benefit from 
improved disabled access at Accrington railway station, better management of ‘rat runs’ 
and additional real-time public transport information.  Councillor Britcliffe asked if any 
improvements were planned to provide disabled access to the eastbound platform Church 
and Oswaldtwistle railway station.  The Leader responded that he and the MP had attended 
a meeting with the Northern rail operator recently to discuss potential projects, as some 
funding was available to carry out assessments for other projects. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
Following the report presented to the Council on 13th January 2022, Cabinet had been 
recommended to formally approve the TCIP, with any minor updates to be agreed with the 
Stakeholder Board following the public consultation. 
 
Council had also recommended that Cabinet formally approve the Stakeholder Board’s 
recommendation that the Council’s LUF submission should be based around the following 
principal interventions; 
 

 Redevelopment to an area within the Indoor Market Hall and outdoor pavilions along 

Peel Street. 

 Improvements and redevelopment to the properties of 43-59 Blackburn Road / 2-4 

Church Street. 

 Improvements and redevelopment to the block 61-69 Blackburn Road, commonly 

known as Burtons Chambers. 

 
A further intervention to improve the visual appeal of the high street shops/businesses by 
working with local independent property owners to deliver façade improvements might also 
be considered, where sufficient funding within the bid total and Round 2 bid criteria allowed. 
 
The report also highlighted the need for each LUF submission to include a minimum 10% 
external contribution as match funding and that good project management practice required 
construction schemes to have a minimum 10% financial contingency fund to cover unknown 

Page 34



 
 
 

 

 
3 

and/or unavoidable costs.  Both of these were identified within the report presented to the 
Council at its annual budget setting meeting on the 24th February 2022. 
 
Whilst the Council’s appointed external consultant had developed suggested responses to 
the questions needed for the Council’s LUF application, there were a number of specific bid 
documents / statements which required the Council’s Chief Finance Officer, (i.e. Section 
151 Officer) and Chief Executive to make and sign as a true and correct record on behalf of 
the Council. 
 
The Council was required to give due diligence to its potential procurement strategy for 
engaging contractors and professional services, (i.e. architects / engineers / project 
managers).  There were various UK / EU Trade and Co-operation Agreement compliant 
frameworks available to the Council to either procure the works as a single project, 
incorporating all interventions, or procuring each intervention as a separate project.  There 
were benefits and weaknesses with both options but at this current time the preferred 
option was for the Council to procure separately, thereby seeking the most experienced 
organisation for each intervention.  This allowed projects to commence in order of 
readiness, given some interventions were in private ownership and/or had sitting tenants 
and allowed for potential partners the option of procuring / managing the works on behalf of 
the Council. However, this would not preclude any contractors / professional services 
organisation from bidding for more than one project where they could show the required 
level of experience and sufficient resource. 
 
A number of organisations had already shown a keen interest in wishing to form a joint 
venture with the Council that would act as the vehicle to implement the interventions and 
secure their future.  However, to ensure the Council sought the widest selection of potential 
partners / operators, it was proposed that a prior information notice(s) (PIN) would be 
published to alert the market of the potential opportunity to work with the Council.  A PIN 
was a first step along a procurement process prior to the Council posting the required 
contract notice(s).  Starting the process at this stage, prior to any announcement of the LUF 
bid, did not identify a preferred partner, but allows preliminary informal discussions to take 
place and ensured the Council was fully aware of the various offerings in the marketplace. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
Cabinet could choose not to follow Full Council’s recommendation in approving the TCIP, 
but this was not recommended as the Council required a relevant up-to-date town centre 
strategic plan which built on and updated the adopted 2012 Accrington Area Action Plan. 
 
Cabinet could choose not to accept the Council’s recommendation to support the 
Stakeholder Board interventions for the LUF bid submission.  This was not recommended 
as the interventions identified derived from the rigorous, transparent and lengthy evaluation 
and selection process and any major redirection at this stage of the bid process would have 
a material impact on the ability to submit into the second round of the LUF. 
 
Decision (1) That Cabinet formally approves the TCIP presented 

to Council on 13th January 2022 (see Appendix A). 
 
(2) That the Council’s Chief Executive is given 

delegated authority, following consultation with the 
Leader of the Council, to make any final minor 
amendments suggested by the Stakeholder Board 
following the TCIP Public Consultation. 

 

Page 35



 
 
 

 

 
4 

(3) That Cabinet formally approves the principal 
interventions recommended by the Stakeholder 
Board to be included within the Council’s LUF bid 
submission, following the presentation to Council 
on 13th January 2022. 

 
(4) That the Council’s Chief Executive is given 

delegated authority, following consultation with the 
Leader of the Council, to make any final 
amendments or alternative interventions that may be 
brought forward for consideration in the Council’s 
LUF bid submission, as further progress continues 
to be made around refining the costs and project 
viability. 

 
(5) That the Council’s Chief Executive and Director of 

Finance are given delegated authority, following 
consultation with the Leader of the Council, to sign 
off the relevant documents required for the 
Council’s LUF bid submission as highlighted in 
paragraph 3.5 of the report. 

 
(6) That Cabinet supports the current thinking on a 

preferred procurement strategy to deliver the 
interventions as detailed in paragraph 3.6 of the 
report, but notes that this could change on receiving 
further advice or information following the notice of 
a successful LUF bid. 

 
(7) That Cabinet notes and supports the Council in 

commencing the process of procuring potential 
partners / operators as detailed in paragraph 3.7 of 
the report, with formal award being subject to notice 
of a successful LUF bid. 

 
296 Hyndburn Local Plan (Strategic Policies and Site Allocations) - Regulation 19 

Consultation 
 

Members considered a report of Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, Leader of the Council, on 
the publication of the Local Plan (Strategic Policies and Site Allocations – henceforth 
referred to as the “Local Plan”) at Regulation 19 stage.  The report explained the context 
and content of the consultation documents that were proposed to be the subject of a public 
consultation exercise, due to be commenced in May 2022. 
 
The Leader highlighted that this was a comprehensive document which would ultimately 
replace the existing Local Plan as the overarching planning document.  However, this would 
be supported by other detailed plans.  The Local Plan would identify sites for employment 
and housing up to 2037.  It would support the Huncoat Garden Village proposals and other 
housing growth in Rishton, while also protecting the Green Belt.  Additional employment 
land would be made available for Altham Industrial Estate and a train station park and ride 
would be provided in Huncoat.  Many brownfield sites had already been developed. 
 
Local councillors had been engaged throughout the process of revising the Local Plan.  
Change was sometimes controversial, but essential for the future of employment and 
housing.  It might not be possible to please every individual, but all were being consulted.  

Page 36



 
 
 

 

 
5 

After the conclusion of the consultation, the document would be sent to the Planning 
Inspectorate for independent examination.  Any recommendations would be provided to the 
Council to consider and a final version then submitted to the Secretary of State in 2024. 
 
Councillor Britcliffe asked what influence the Council had over Local Plans developed by 
neighbouring local authorities.  In particular, he was concerned that Blackburn with Darwen 
Council’s Local Plan sough to develop land up to the border with Hyndburn, at Belthorn, 
potentially altering the rural character of the village.  The Leader responded that the Council 
worked closely with its neighbours.  Blackburn with Darwen was slightly further along in the 
process of updating its Local Plan.  However, Hyndburn Borough Council was a statutory 
consultee in respect of its Local Plan.  Any issues arising could be submitted for discussion 
at the forthcoming Leader’s Policy Development Board. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
Full reasons were set out in the main report, which included detailed information on the 
following:- 
 

 Purpose of the Local Plan; 

 Key documents; 

 Reasons for review; 

 Timetable and progress to date; 

 Summary of Local Plan contents; and 

 Consultation details. 

 
There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons 
 
Decision - That Cabinet: 
 

(1) Notes the work which has already taken place, 
including previous statutory public 
consultation, on the earlier stages of 
preparation of the new Local Plan for 
Hyndburn; 

 
(2) Approves the content of the Local Plan 

document (as set out in the various papers 
attached to the report) and agrees to 
commence a 6-week statutory consultation 
process; and 

 
(3) Delegates authority to the Council’s Executive 

Director (Legal and Democratic Services) and 
the Chief Planning and Transportation Officer, 
following consultation with the Portfolio Holder 
with responsibility for Planning, to make any 
further changes considered necessary or 
appropriate to the consultation documents, 
prior to commencing consultation. 

 
297 Unacceptable Behaviour Policy 

 

Page 37



 
 
 

 

 
6 

Members considered a report of Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, 
seeking agreement to an Unacceptable Behaviour Policy. 
 
Councillor Plummer indicated that the Council took the health and safety of its staff, elected 
members, volunteers and contractors seriously.  Accordingly, the processes around 
incidents had recently been reviewed.  Reminders had been sent about reporting incidents 
and about the procedures for sharing intelligence.  The information could be sensitive, but 
was properly managed in terms of human rights and data protection. 
 
Councillor Britcliffe indicated that at the last Council meeting an assault was alleged to have 
occurred by a councillor on a member of the public.  He asked if the policy would cover this 
type of incident and where the allegation was up to within the Council’s procedures.  The 
Leader responded that he was aware of the allegation, which was being investigated by the 
Police.  A complaint had also been passed to the Chief Whip and Regional Office of the 
relevant political party.   The Chief Executive of the Council was aware of the matter and 
following outcome of the Police investigation, the issue was likely to be reported to the 
Council’s Standards Committee.  Mr David Welsby, Chief Executive indicated that the 
alleged incident would not fall within the remit of the Unacceptable Behaviour Policy (which 
dealt with customers’ behaviour), but was covered by the Members Code of Conduct, which 
provided the link into the Standards procedures. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The report indicated that in 2015, the Council had agreed a policy for the Management of 
Violence and Aggression.  This had brought in a register of incidents so that specific staff 
were able to check before undertaking visits or face to face meetings, in case that person or 
address had some history of aggression.  This would then inform further risk mitigation 
measures, e.g. going with a colleague, only holding meetings in a Council building etc. 
 
Unacceptable behaviour was behaviour or language in whatever form whether in person, 
during a phone call, on social media, by text message or in writing that might cause 
employees or Elected Members to feel distressed, threatened, intimidated or abused and 
might include: 
 

 Actual violence; 

 Threats of violence;  

 Harassment or inappropriate physical contact; 

 Inappropriate cultural, gender identity, disabled, racial or religious references; 

 Discriminatory language e.g. sexist, racist or homophobic comments; 

 Inflammatory statements; 

 Personal remarks or derogatory comments; and 

 Offensive and intimidating behaviour 

 
The system in place had operated well but it was important to review this regularly.  
 
Responsibility for the Panel that considered inclusion on the Register lay with the Executive 
Director (Environment) as corporate Health and Safety lead, and currently included the 
Head of Policy and Organisational Development and a Solicitor (latterly the Legal Services 
Manager).  The Safety and Emergency Planning Officer received incident reports with 
recommendations from Service Managers for submission to the Panel. 
 

Page 38



 
 
 

 

 
7 

The proposed Unacceptable Behaviour Policy, which had been drafted by the previous 
Legal Services Manager, would replace the policy for the Management of Violence and 
Aggression. 
 
The Register was maintained by the Safety and Emergency Planning Officer and stored on 
the Health and Safety drive area of the Council’s network.  It was restricted to those staff 
whom the Council considered needed the information to do their job safely. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The Council could retain its existing Policy but Panel members agreed with Management 
Team that a review was timely and useful. 
 
Decision (1) That Cabinet approves the proposed Unacceptable 

Behaviour Policy. 
 
(2) That the Executive Director (Environment) ensures 

that any changes to processes are implemented and 
communicated. 

 
298 Capital Report - Outturn 2020/21 

 
Members considered a report of Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, 
on financial spend on Capital Projects during 2020/21. 
 
Councillor Plummer indicated that a substantial capital programme had been delivered 
despite the pandemic.  It was appropriate here to recognise the good work carried out.  
When the Budget had been approved for 2020/21 the impacts of COVID-19 could not have 
been foreseen.  Around £3m of works had been undertaken and the projects were 
underspent.  At a time when many businesses were closed down the delivery of the capital 
programme had helped to keep many people in employment.  The requests received for 
slippage were around £3m which was similar to the figure for previous years. 
 
For the fifteenth consecutive year, all projects had been funded either from internal 
reserves or external grant, meaning that no borrowing was necessary.  This prevented a 
significant call upon the General Revenue Budget. 
 
The major high spots within the Capital Programme for the year were: 
 

 Work completed on Accrington Town Centre Initiatives at a cost of £758,000. 

 Investment by the Council of £559,000 on housing schemes, including £306,000 on 

the Lower Woodnook housing renewal scheme. 

 Expenditure by the Council of £180,000 on replacement refuse collection vehicles.  

 Awards by the Council of Disabled Facility Grants of almost £748,000 to ensure that 

those who had an illness or disability could continue to live independent lives in their 

own homes, if they wished to do so. 

 
The Council had generated over £800,000 in capital receipts during the year concerned. 
Treasury Management and Prudential Indicators for the period were in line with 
expectations. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 

Page 39



 
 
 

 

 
8 

 
The report included detail of the Capital Programme for 2020/21 at Appendix 1. 
 
The outturn position for 2020/21 on Capital Expenditure showed a seventeenth year of 
major capital investment by the Council.  The overall investment by the Council in the year 
was £3m against an authorised maximum budget of £8m.  The overall programme was 
underspent by £86,000 for the year. 
 
The Council had received applications for net slippage of £3.06m, comprising £4.76m of 
expenditure schemes moving from 2020/21 to 2021/22 and £1.73m of income.  The list of 
schemes that had slipped was set out at Appendix 2 of the report.  
 
The authority had maintained its prudent approach to Treasury Management during the 
year.  The indicators at Table 3 within the report demonstrated small movements between 
the previous year’s position and the outturn for 2020/21. 
 
The report included further information on the following: 
 

 Detail; (including key priorities, the management of the programme, spend by 

service area and the Council’s funding strategy) 

 Funding sources; 

 Receipts; and 

 Treasury management. 

 
There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons 
 
Decision - The Cabinet notes the Capital Outturn Report 

2020/21 and the Slippage items shown at Appendix 2 
therein. 

 
299 Application for Museum Accreditation 

 
Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP, Portfolio Holder for Education, Leisure and Arts, provided a 
report seeking approval for the Haworth Art Gallery’s application to Arts Council England for 
Museum Accreditation. 
 
Councillor Dad indicated that the Museum Accreditation sought was the sector’s standard 
and dealt with issues such as access, engagement and protection of the collection.  The 
Haworth Art Gallery currently managed its collection responsibly and engaged well with 
visitors.  It also had in place good governance arrangements.  The 5 year accreditation had 
been due to be renewed on 29th February 2020, but nationally museums had been closed 
due to COVID-19.  However, the time was now right to apply for accreditation, which was a 
benchmark for all museums. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The Arts Council Accreditation Scheme was the UK industry standard for museums and 
galleries.  It helped everyone involved with a museum to do the right things, helping people 
to access and engage with collections, and protect them for future generations.  The 
Accreditation Scheme did this by making sure museums managed their collections 
properly, engaged with visitors, and were governed appropriately by encouraging all 
museums and galleries to meet an agreed standard in:  

Page 40



 
 
 

 

 
9 

 

 How they were run; 

 How they managed their collections; and 

 How they engaged with their users. 

 
The Haworth currently benefited from Museum Accreditation which had a term of 5 years.  
The Haworth’s accreditation had been due for renewal on 29th February 2020 and an 
application had been submitted.  However, due to the outbreak of COVID-19 in March 
2020, museums across the UK had closed their sites because of the impact of the 
pandemic and in line with Government guidance.  In response the UK Accreditation 
partners – Arts Council England; Museums Galleries Scotland, Northern Ireland Museums 
Council and the Welsh Government (Museums Archives Libraries Division) – had paused 
the Accreditation Scheme with effect from 1st April 2020, and all Accredited museums in the 
UK had their current award status extended.  The Haworth had until the 31st of March 2022 
to make a new submission. 
 
It was very important that the Haworth renewed its Museum Accreditation because it was 
the benchmark for a well-run museum.  The award did the following: 
 
For a Local Authority 
 

 Helped show a museum met visitors’ and users’ needs; 

 Showed a museum was being managed and governed properly; 

 Could boost a museum’s reputation, secure funding and give confidence to donors 

and other supporters; 

 Helped a museum to manage their collections fairly, ethically and legally; 

 Provided a museum with a set of minimum requirements that had to be met, which 

included accountability and performance management/monitoring progress; 

 Opened up opportunities for a museum, including funding opportunities and new 

partnerships; 

 Helped a museum audit their collections, and assess risks to them. 

 
For Visitors 
 

 Showed a museum was being properly managed and governed; 

 Let people know that anything they donated to a collection would be accessible to 

the public and would be looked after ethically; 

 Showed a museum looked after its collections properly and safeguarded them for 

the future; 

 Helped museums understand what their users and visitors wanted and made plans 

for the future. 

 
This mattered because it meant people could actually access collections and stories 
– seeing the items that mattered to them and knowing that future generations would 
be able to do the same. 

 
For Museum Staff and Volunteers 
 

 Showed a museum was being properly managed and governed – and other 

museums recognised that; 

 Demonstrated a museum’s professionalism – which made it easier to get funding 

and helped give confidence to lenders and donors; 

Page 41



 
 
 

 

 
10 

 Meant a museum was looking after their collections and managing them 

appropriately; 

 Helped museums meet their users’ needs; 

 Showed the museum team that they were working to an industry-wide standard; 

 Gave access to professional advice and support, including mentors and Museum 

Development in England; 

 Helped keep museums on track by giving them ways to formalise plans, policies and 

procedures and so improve services. 

 
The Accreditation application comprised a suite of set documents that provided the required 
standard, policies and procedures for the Haworth and its collections.  It was divided into 
three key areas and volumes and further split into a number of sections as follows: 
 
Governance and Management 
 

 Forward Plan: to include a clear statement of purpose, an appropriate constitution, 

a satisfactory structure for governance and management, and an approved forward 

plan demonstrating financial stability. 

 A risk assessment of security arrangements: to cover arrangements for staff, 

volunteers and visitors, stored and displayed collections and buildings and site. 

 Emergency Plan:  to include arrangements for staff and volunteers, visitors, 

collections and collections information, a risk assessment of threats, how you 

authorise, maintain, communicate and test your emergency plan, and how you 

share it with your staff and volunteers, and the emergency services, how your 

museum works with the emergency services, and any other relevant emergency 

plans, a priority salvage list and when you’ll review your emergency plan. 

 
Managing Collections 
 

 Collections Development Policy: to include taking responsibility for the collections 

we manage, the museum’s statement of purpose, an overview of current collections, 

themes and priorities for future collecting, themes and priorities for rationalisation 

and disposal, information about the legal and ethical framework for acquiring and 

disposing of items, and the date the policy will be reviewed. 

 Documentation Policy: how the collections would be recorded 

 Documentation Procedural Manual: to include how the museum would follow 

Spectrum Primary Documentation Procedures (these include instructions how to 

follow the following procedures, object entry, acquisition and accessioning, location 

and movement control, inventory, cataloguing, object exit, loans in (borrowing 

objects), loans out (lending objects) and documentation planning. 

 Collections Care and Conservation Policy 

 Collections Care and Conservation Plan 

 
Users and Their Experiences 

 Access policy: to cover how people could see, use and reference your collection, 

gain access to your museum buildings and sites and how you share information 

about the collection with people. 

 Access plan: this must contain information to maintain and if possible improve the 

physical, sensory and intellectual access to collections, information about 

collections, access to the buildings housing your collections, understand and 

develop your audiences and engage with your users and improve their experience 

Page 42



 
 
 

 

 
11 

providing stimulating learning and discovery activities including exhibitions and 

programming and how we communicate effectively with users and potential users 

through a range of access, marketing and promotional activities. 

 
A link was provided in the report to the Council’s website to enable the full draft 
documentation to be viewed. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The Haworth Art Gallery did not have to apply for Accreditation, however, the Gallery would 
no longer be museum accredited with significant disadvantages especially in applying for 
external funding from Arts Council England, National Lottery Heritage Fund and various 
other funding bodies.   
 
Decision - That Cabinet notes and approves the draft 

application for Arts Council England Museum 
Accreditation as described and summarised in the 
report (full details of which can be viewed on the 
Council’s website accessible via the link included in 
the report). 

 
300 Financial Position Report - January 2022 - Report for the Year Ending 31st March 

2022 
 
Members considered a report of Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, 
on the financial spending of the Council up to the end of January 2022 and the financial 
forecast outturn position for the Accounting Year 2021/22. 
 
Councillor Plummer commented that the current forecast produced a positive variance of 
£85,000 by the end of the financial year.  This was an excellent result in the face of COVID-
19, but was due in no small terms to additional Government funding provided.  It was 
unlikely now that there would be a further surge in COVID-19 that would significantly affect 
the 2021/22 financial position.  The Government had also now confirmed that COVID 
funding would be ring fenced and could be rolled forward into next year. 
 
Across the Budget, adverse variances were largely due to reduced income generation 
based on the economic downturn due to COVID-19.  In particular, this had impacted the 
Council in the following areas: 
 

 Market Hall – with extended concessions being provided to traders; and 

 Commercial lettings – with difficulties in attracting new tenants. 

 
However, with wider savings generated and careful financial management, a Budget 
surplus was being forecast for 2021/22.  A balanced Budget for 2022/23 had been set at 
the recent Council meeting, which would allow the authority to continue to meet its priorities 
and to help the local community to recover from the effects of the pandemic. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The detailed figures underpinning the report were shown as a table at the end of the 
document provided. 
 

Page 43



 
 
 

 

 
12 

The spend for the first 10 months of the financial year to the end of January  2022 was 
£9,651,000 compared to a Budget of £10,389,000, giving a positive variance of £738,000 
over the first 10 months of the year. 
 
The current forecast spend to the end of the financial year in March 2022 was £11,142,000, 
compared to a Budget of £11,227,000.  This forecast produced a positive variance of 
£85,000 by the end of the financial year. 
 
The Council had received additional financial support from Lancashire County Council 
(LCC) to meet the cost of continuing COVID-19 pressures over the second half of the year.  
This would allow the Council to meet its current forecast spend in relation to COVID-19 
activities for the remainder of the year.  
 
So far, since the spike in cases caused by the Omicron variant, the Council had been able 
to provide the support the local community required within its current funding envelop and 
therefore unless there was a dramatic swing upwards in COVID-19 cases over the last part 
of the financial year, the Council would expect to maintain this position.  Any unspent 
balances of specific COVID-19 funding will be carried forward into the new year and used to 
continue to support the local community, as necessary. 
 
The Budget forecast included large elements of expenditure and funding in connection with 
COVID-19.  As this was a new area of budget management, controls and management of 
the expenditure and income was not at the same high standard as for the authority’s normal 
budget expenditure.  There was, therefore, a higher degree of risk around these figures in 
the forecasts made.  Accountancy staff and Management were working to improve the 
thoroughness and accuracy of these figures. 
 
The report included more detailed commentary about expenditure in the following service 
areas:- 
 

 Environmental Services; 

 Culture and Leisure Services; 

 Planning and Transportation; 

 Regeneration and Property Services; 

 Policy and Corporate Governance; and 

 Non-service Items. 

 
The additional funding of £581,000 requested by the Council from Lancashire County 
Council to support its on-going work around COVID 19, had reduced the risk of an 
overspend this year and if COVID 19 activity largely remained as currently forecast, the 
Council should have sufficient funds to meet the known costs it expected to incur at this 
time. 
 
There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons 
 
Decision - That Cabinet notes the report on the Financial 

Position for the Year ending 31st March 2022, as at 

January 2022, and asks Corporate Management 

Team to continue to reduce expenditure and 

increase income so as to further improve the overall 

financial position of the Council over the remaining 

months of the year. 

 
301 Former Lyndon Playing Fields Land Transfer 

Page 44



 
 
 

 

 
13 

 
Councillor Loraine Cox, Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and Wellbeing, provided a report 
seeking approval to transfer the Council’s remaining freehold interest, as illustrated at 
Appendix 1, at the former Lyndon Playing Fields development, now known as Lyndon Park, 
to Keepmoat Homes Limited. 
 
Councillor L Cox introduced the report, which dealt with the transfer of the land required for 
the final two phases of the development.  Approval was required to facilitate a departure 
from the terms of the existing sale agreement. 
 
The Leader spoke about the controversial history of the development, but affirmed that 
change was necessary to provide new homes and to generate inward investment.  The 
development had already supported improved facilities for local sports groups and event 
organisers and would ensure the future vibrancy of the high street in Great Harwood. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The terms of the disposal of the former Lyndon Playing Fields, Great Harwood to Keepmoat 
Homes Limited (Keepmoat) were subject to a legally binding sale agreement which both 
parties had entered into on the 10th November 2017.  Under the terms of the agreement, 
the Council owned land was drawn down in four phases (or parcels), subject to conditions 
which were specified in the agreement for sale.  Parcels 1 and 2 had been drawn down by 
Keepmoat and fully developed. 
 
The development also included land in a third-party ownership, which had also been sold to 
Keepmoat.  This area of the development was situated to the south and southeast of the 
development site and now near completion. 
 
Appendix 2 set out in the report illustrated the Lyndon Park development and areas, with 
the Council’s former land (Parcels 1 and 2) and land still to be transferred (Parcels 3 and 4) 
identified as to the north of the development area.  The remaining development land was 
former third party land with colouring to show progress with development. 
 
Appendix 2 therefore shows that Keepmoat was nearing the final two phases of the Lyndon 
Park development, with Parcels 3 and 4 remaining in the Council’s ownership.  Under the 
terms of the agreement for sale the conditions for drawing down Parcel 3 of the Council 
land had been met.  Keepmoat were accelerating delivery with good recent sales (after a 
slow down) and were therefore seeking to draw down Parcels 3 and 4 at the same time and 
conclude the full transfer of the Council’s remaining land. 
 
Under the terms of the existing sale agreement the Council were not yet required to dispose 
of Parcel 4 to Keepmoat, but they had requested this as they would now be paying the 
Council the balance of the purchase price for the Council’s entire ownership.  This would be 
a departure from the terms of the exiting sale agreement. 
 
As stated above Keepmoat were due to pay the full balance of the land transfer, which had 
become due on the 10th November 2021.  To date, under the terms of the sale agreement 
Keepmoat had paid the Council £1,711,808, and therefore a balance of £1,094,084 was 
now due from Keepmoat.  This would have to be paid by Keepmoat irrespective of whether 
the Council agreed to transfer Parcel 4 of its land. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 

Page 45



 
 
 

 

 
14 

Under the terms of the sale agreement, Keepmoat’s request to transfer Parcel 4 to them 
was early.  The Council was not under an obligation to transfer Parcel 4 until 50% of the 
proposed plots on Parcel 3 (which would be 12 plots) had been constructed to roof level. 
 
However, following a request from Keepmoat, consideration should be given to transferring 
the Council’s full freehold interest of the remaining land including Parcel 4, even though 
there was no obligation to transfer this parcel, recognising the strong partnership between 
Keepmoat and the Council in developing this site and potential future sites in the Borough, 
and on the basis it should conclude all legal and financial transactions simultaneously. 
 
Decision - That Cabinet considers and approves the freehold 

transfer of land shown at Appendix 1 of the report to 
Keepmoat Homes Limited and delegates authority to 
the Head of Regeneration and Housing to finalise 
terms of the transfer in consultation with the 
Executive Director (Legal and Democratic Services) 
and authorises the Execute Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services) to finalise and execute all legal 
documents to conclude the disposal. 

 
302 Exclusion of the Public 

 
Resolved - That, in accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the 

Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, the public be excluded from the 
meeting during the following item, when it was 
likely, in view of the nature of the proceedings that 
there would otherwise be disclosure of exempt 
information within the Paragraph at Schedule 12A of 
the Act specified at the item. 

 
303 Sale of Land at Church Canal Gateway, Blackburn Road, Church, Accrington 

 
In accordance with Regulation 5(6)(a) of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, approval was granted 
by Councillor Jenny Molineux, Chair of the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, to the following decision being made by Cabinet on 16th March 2022, 
in private, on the grounds that the decision was urgent and could not reasonably be 
deferred. 
 
Exempt information by virtue of Paragraph 3 - Relating to the financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
 
Councillor Loraine Cox provided a brief introduction to the report. 
 
Councillor Britcliffe asked about whether the location of the proposed development would 
be consistent with Control of Major Accident Hazards (COMAH) risks at William Blythe Ltd.  
Mark Hoyle, Head of Regeneration and Housing, indicated that advice had been obtained 
from the Council’s Planning Team and Health and Safety Executive (HSE) and the site was 
considered to be suitable for the proposed use.  Councillor Britcliffe also mentioned that this 
site was a key gateway into the Borough and that any development needed to be of a high 
quality.  The Leader and Mr Hoyle acknowledged this point, but responded that the detailed 
design would be a planning matter.  Mr Welsby, Chief Executive, highlighted that the report 

Page 46



 
 
 

 

 
15 

confirmed that the disposal would subject to the proposed purchaser obtaining satisfactory 
planning permission. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision  
 
The reasons for the decision were set out in the exempt report. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The alternative options considered and reasons for rejection were set out in the exempt 
report. 
 
Resolved - That the recommendations as set out in the exempt 

report be approved. 
 

304 Sale of Former Council Offices, 20 Cannon Street, Accrington. BB5 1NJ 
 
Exempt information by virtue of Paragraph 3 - Relating to the financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
 
Councillor Loraine Cox provided a brief introduction to the report. 
 
Councillor Britcliffe asked about the current condition of the building, since it had been 
vacant for some time.  The Leader responded that there were some minor maintenance 
issues to address, but essentially this was a desirable building, with attractive architectural 
features, in a good location close to key public transport links. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision  
 
The reasons for the decision were set out in the exempt report. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The alternative options considered and reasons for rejection were set out in the exempt 
report. 
 
Resolved - That the recommendations as set out in the exempt 

report be approved. 
 

305 Arthur Wilson Centre, Clayton-le-Moors 
 
Exempt information by virtue of Paragraph 3 - Relating to the financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
 
Councillor Loraine Cox provided a brief introduction to the report. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision  
 
The reasons for the decision were set out in the exempt report. 

Page 47



 
 
 

 

 
16 

 
Alternative Options Considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The alternative options considered and reasons for rejection were set out in the exempt 
report. 
 
Resolved - That the recommendations as set out in the exempt 

report be approved. 
 

306 Sale of Land adjacent to the former Black Bull Public House, Lowergate Road, 
Huncoat 
 
In accordance with Regulation 5(6)(a) of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, approval was granted 
by Councillor Jenny Molineux, Chair of the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, to the following decision being made by Cabinet on 16th March 2022, 
in private, on the grounds that the decision was urgent and could not reasonably be 
deferred. 
 
Exempt information by virtue of Paragraph 3 - Relating to the financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
 
Councillor Loraine Cox provided a brief introduction to the report. 
 
Councillor Britcliffe enquired about the proposed use of the land.  Councillor Plummer 
responded that the site would be used as a garden for a residential property. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision  
 
The reasons for the decision were set out in the exempt report. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The alternative options considered and reasons for rejection were set out in the exempt 
report. 
 
Resolved - That the recommendations as set out in the exempt 

report be approved. 
 

 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 48



 

 
1 

 
AUDIT COMMITTEE 

 

 
Monday, 7th March, 2022 

 
Present:  Councillor Chris Knight (in the Chair), Councillors Dominik Allen and 

Caroline Montague 
 

Apologies Councillor Michael Miller, Tim O'Kane and Kate Walsh 

  

 
280 Apologies for Absence, Declarations of Interest, Dispensations and Substitutions 

 
Apologies were submitted on behalf of Councillors Michael Miller, Tim O’Kane and Kate 
Walsh. 
 
There were no Declarations of Interest, Dispensations or Substitutions. 
 

281 Minutes of the Last Meeting 
 
The minutes of the last meeting of the Audit Committee held on the 29th November 2022 
were submitted for approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved - That the minutes be received and approved as a 

correct record. 
 

282 Risk Management Monitoring Report 
 
Stuart Sambrook, Policy Manager, introduced a report to inform the Committee of the 
outcome of the review of the Strategic, Generic and Operational Risk Registers. 
 
Members were informed that, at its meeting on 29th September 2003, the Standards 
Committee had been provided with details of the Council’s Risk Management Policy and 
associated Strategic and Operational Risk Registers.  The report had also set out a protocol 
for updating the risk registers in addition to ensuring that the risks already identified were 
monitored and action plans were in place to mitigate against these risks wherever possible.  
The Management Team had received a report on 15th March, 2006 regarding the transfer of 
responsibility for updating the Risk Register to the Policy Team. 
 
The protocol for updating the risk tables had been followed and the information gathered 
formed the basis of the report now provided and any associated documents.  A table was 
also provided setting out the definitions for high, medium and low risks.  The guidance 
suggested the Council should review the adopted definitions of risk on a regular basis.  This 
review was likely to take place over the summer. 
 
In order to manage and control high risks, good practice suggested that the Management 
Team receive a regular update on control measures and their corresponding controls.  The 
definitions adopted by the Council for likelihood and worst impact no longer effectively 
identified appropriate threat levels, particularly in relation to strategic risks covering the 
climate emergency and the pandemic.  These risks might not occur regularly but the nature 
of their long term ramifications would place them at a high level of risk, in spite the current 
definitions outlined in the table referred to above. 
 

Page 49

Agenda Item 8.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

In 2020/21 a large number of amendments had been made across all three Risk Registers 
in relation to the pandemic, lockdowns and subsequent easing and rule changes.  At the 
commencement of 2022/23, the urgency of the earlier stages of the pandemic were 
subsiding, however the remaining uncertainty might mean pandemic-related risks on 
Council services and the community remained high.  In order to go forward, the Council’s 
Management Team had been asked to determine whether these risks remained high or 
should be lowered. 
 
COVID-19 and the future of COVID was an unknown, particularly around variants.  The 
Council could be required to step up its response again quickly and with the response 
teams no longer in place this could be problematic. 
 
The changes to the risk registers reflected in the report were correct as at Wednesday 9th 
February 2022.  A separate report had been presented to Management Team on 16th 
February, 2022. 
 
There had been four major changes made to the Strategic Risk Register, as summarised 
below and 3 minor changes, as set out in Appendix 1 to the report. 
 

Area Change Risk Rating 

With Controls 

NEW RISK 

Financial 

 

Risk 

The acquisition of key town centre buildings and delivery of 

a £22 million regeneration project within Accrington Town 

Centre  

Risk Owner 

Chief Executive 

High 

Environmental 

 

Risk 

Failure to deliver on Council’s Climate Declaration pledge 

and achieve Council operations Carbon Zero by 2030. 

Risk Owner 

Chief Executive 

High 

CHANGE OF RISK RATING 

Customer / 

Citizen  

 

Risk 

Pandemic can cause harm to the health and wellbeing of the 

local Hyndburn community 

Risk Owner 

Chief Executive 

Original Rating 

High 

 

Revised Rating 

Medium 

Economical / 

Reputational  

 

Risk 

Pandemic effect on Council’s financial services, staffing 

arrangements and service delivery 

Risk Owner 

Chief Executive 

Original Rating 

High 

 

Revised Rating 

Medium 

 
 
There had been one major change made to the Generic Risk Register, as summarised 
below and 4 minor changes, as detailed in Appendix 2 to the report. 
 

Area Change Risk Rating 

With Controls 

CHANGE OF RISK RATING 

Page 50



 
 
 

 

 
3 

Area Change Risk Rating 

With Controls 

Environmental 

 

Risk 

Failure to conserve energy and reduce emissions thus 

resulting in excess costs to the council and a negative 

impact on the environment. 

Risk Owner 

Management Team 

Original Rating 

Low 

 

Revised Rating 

High 

 
 
There had been no major changes to the Operational Risk Register, but a number of minor 
changes (10) had been made, details of which were provided at Appendix 3 to the report. 
 
A summary of all 104 risks contained within the three registers was also provided at 
Appendix 4 of the report. 
 
Resolved - That the Committee notes the Risk Management 

Monitoring Report. 
 

283 Audit Reports and Key Issues - Progress Report for the Period November 2021 - 
January 2022 
 
Mark Beard, Head of Audit & Investigations, presented a routine report to inform Members 
of the Audit Reports issued during the period November 2021 – January 2022 and to bring 
to the attention of the Committee what the key issues were. 
 
The report included a list of the audit areas and any key issues, a summary of which is 
provided below: 
 

Service/Topic Audit 
Assurance 
Opinion 
Issued 

Comments 

Write off 
Processes 

Substantial 
assurance 

 The audit found that there were some NDR / 
Council Tax Write Offs where these had not been 
counter-authorised within the Accountancy Team.  
However, these were dealt with prior to the 
completion of the audit and all other paperwork, 
processes were found to be in place.  

 

Car Loans and 
Leasing 

Comprehensive 
assurance 

 Whilst the audit did not find any issues, the 
question was raised as to whether consideration 
should be given to reviewing the current car loan 
and lease scheme in conjunction with the 
Council’s Green review.  The introduction of a 
salary sacrifice scheme for all employees would 
support the Council’s commitment to achieving 
carbon neutral status, as the vehicles offered 
would be electric, hybrid or ultra-low emission.  
The Authority would also make savings in relation 
to both national insurance and pension 
contributions for employees taking part in the 
scheme. 

 

Page 51



 
 
 

 

 
4 

 The Deputy Chief Executive stated the Council 
obtained some advice from PWC a few years ago 
on introducing a salary sacrifice scheme.  They 
concluded that the benefits already provided by 
the Council under the car scheme outweighed 
those that could be obtained from introducing a 
salary sacrifice scheme. 

 

Elections and 
Electoral 
Register 

Comprehensive 
assurance 

No issues arising 

Treasury 
Management 

Comprehensive 
assurance  

No issues arising 

 
 
Members were reminded that the number of audit reports that were issued between each 
Committee meeting was subject to variation dependent on the size of the audit and any 
non-routine audit work, such as investigations, that the Team might be involved in.  
Therefore, for the purpose of reporting, only the audit reports fully completed, issued and 
agreed would be included. 
 
Any investigations that might be carried out would not be included as a matter of routine in 
the report, particularly if they related to a specific individual or individuals. 
 
There was a target of 98% of the audit plan to be completed by the end of the current 
financial year in terms of audit days completed.  As the Audit Team completed timesheets 
which then fed into the Audit Plan, it was possible to state the progress to date and the 
projected end of year position if that date was extrapolated out.  Therefore:-  
 
 Position as at end of January 2022  = 78.73% of the Plan completed 
 Projected out-turn position for 2021/22 = 94.48% of the Plan completed. 
 
The position at the end of October 2021 could be broken down as follows:- 
 
Month % of the Plan Completed that Month 

April 2021 7.54% 

May 2021 6.35% 

June 2021 6.44% 

July 2021 10.09% 

August 2021 7.89% 

September 2021 6.83% 

October 2021 8.72% 

November 2021 8,46% 

December 2021 5.69% 

January 2022 10.72% 

 
The projected out-turn position for the year was based on the 10 month period April 2021 to 
January 2022 and assumed that the output remained at a constant for the remainder of 
2021/22. 
 
The Chair asked whether a record was maintained of the numbers of staff signing up to the 
car loan/leasing scheme.  He commented that this was not dissimilar to the type of benefit 
provided by company cars for senior staff in private businesses.  The Chair also enquired if 
a pool of vehicles was available for other staff to use.  Mr Beard responded that full records 
of participants were maintained.  However, the scheme was not really like a company car 

Page 52



 
 
 

 

 
5 

scheme, as staff paid for a lease, which was sourced by the Council.  To a certain extent 
pool vehicles were available, but such vehicles which were part of the Council’s fleet and 
could only be driven by those staff who had been trained for fleet usage.  In particular, fleet 
vans were used to support various events. 
 
Resolved - That the Committee notes the content of the Audit 

Areas and Key Issues Progress Report. 
 

284 Audit Follow Up Update 
 
Mark Beard, Head of Audit & Investigations, presented a report to inform Members of the 
outcome of routine follow-ups following the previously agreed action plans for completed 
Audit Reports.  The report covered the period November 2021 – February 2022. 
 
Following the agreement of the recommendations between Management and Internal Audit 
following the completion of the audit assignment, the area was revisited by Internal Audit 
and the recommendations were reviewed to ensure they had been implemented as agreed.  
This process was known as the ‘Follow-Up’. 
 
Internal Audit assessed the current position against what had been agreed at the end of the 
audit.  Where no action had been taken by the Service Area, then Internal Audit would 
question why and issue a revised Action Plan.  Part of the control within this process was 
consideration by Audit Committee of any issues that arose.  The Committee had the ability 
to ask questions of Management in the relative service areas as to why they had not acted 
upon the agreed Action Plan.  The Committee could also express what its expectations 
would be with regard to such a problem occurring. 
 
Internal Audit aimed to carry out a Follow Up for each completed audit area within 6 months 
of completion.  However there were a number of exceptions to that aim:- 
 
i.) Follow-Up in 6 months would be pointless if the recommendations were a low enough 

priority to allow a longer time frame. 
ii.) Work of the Audit Team did not allow the Follow-Up to be carried out.  Although Follow 

Ups were an important part of the process the Head of Audit & Investigations would 
always have to weigh this against the need for achieving the Audit Plan and auditing 
the risks the Council faced. 

iii.) There were no recommendations arising from the original audit. 
 
Details of the follow-ups carried out and actions implemented during this period were 
provided as Appendix 1.  Mr Beard highlighted key elements of the actions carried out.  A 
list of the topics/service areas covered is as shown below:- 
 

 Car Loans and Leasing; 

 Network Controls; 

 Treasury Management; and 

 Employee Safety. 
 
The 13 actions agreed from the above audit reports had been now been implemented. 
 
An update to the outstanding follow-up Action Plans reported to the Committee Members in 
November 2021 was provided at Appendix 2 of the report.  A list of the topics/service areas 
affected is as follows:- 
 

 Asset Management/Property Management Income; 

Page 53



 
 
 

 

 
6 

 Land Charges; and 

 External Body Nominations. 
 
Mr Beard commented that work was on-going to follow up the Asset Management/Property 
Management Income report, but this had been delayed by other priorities for that service 
due to COVID-19.  Work required included updating the land terrier database; visiting 
vacant properties; looking at age of debt and customer addresses; checking keys held and; 
updating the Propman system (the property management system). 
 
In respect of Land Charges, a legal agreement was still awaited from Pendle Borough 
Council. 
 
Regarding External Body Nominations, the review had been requested by one of the 
Executive Directors, but implementation of the recommendations had been delayed by 
COVID-19 and would now be out of date.  The work was mainly about processes and was 
not considered to present any critical risks.  The relevant Director had been advised that 
Audit would no longer follow up this matter and that the Committee would be informed of 
the closure of this work at today’s meeting.  The Chair commented that outside body work 
was often undertaken by ward councillors.  He was satisfied that the matter should be 
closed, but indicated that there may be a need to revisit this at some point in the future. 
 
Resolved - That the Committee notes the content of the Audit 

Follow-Ups Update Report. 
 

285 Audit Plan 2022/23 
 
Mark Beard, Head of Audit & Investigations, presented a report about the Internal Audit 
Plan for the financial year 2022/23, requesting approval to the proposed Plan and the 
delegation of authority to the Head of Audit & Investigations to make any minor 
amendments to the Plan proposed by Corporate Management Team.  Mr Beard outlined 
key elements of the report and Audit Plan. 
 
The Internal Audit Plan was set annually and monitored monthly.  This practice was in line 
with guidance issued by both the Chartered Institute of Auditors and the Chartered Institute 
of Public Finance & Accountancy.  This also linked into the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards.  An annual Audit Plan with monthly monitoring allowed the Head of Audit & 
Investigations to react to changes and, if necessary, to revise the Audit Plan to incorporate 
these changes. 
 
The Internal Audit Plan formed the work plan of the Internal Audit Team for the financial 
year.  It was risk based and was set annually and was cross-referenced to the Council’s risk 
registers.  Any risks within the risk register that were not already reflected within the Audit 
Plan were added to it. 
 
The 2022/23 Internal Audit Plan had made some alterations which reflected changes 
occurring within the Council as well as changes designed to streamline the Audit Plan.  The 
tables below detailed these changes:- 
 
Amendments to the Audit Plan 
 
Audit Area Comments 

Business Restart Team Renamed as Smart Working Strategy and 
remains in Ad-Hoc Work & Investigations. 

Business Support Grants Deleted from Ad-Hoc Work & Investigations 
as this is absorbed into a new area of Covid 

Page 54



 
 
 

 

 
7 

Support Grants. 

Discretionary Business Support Grants Deleted from Ad-Hoc Work & Investigations 
as this is absorbed into a new area of Covid 
Support Grants. 

Isolation Support Grants Deleted from Ad-Hoc Work & Investigations 
as this is absorbed into a new area of Covid 
Support Grants. 

Lockdown Support Grants Deleted from Ad-Hoc Work & Investigations 
as this is absorbed into a new area of Covid 
Support Grants. 

Pandemic Procurement Deleted from Ad-Hoc Work & Investigations 
and absorbed into Procurement 
Arrangements within Non-Core Systems. 

Member iPads Deleted from Non-Core Systems as this 
covered by a number of other audit areas. 

 
 
Audit Areas Added to the Audit Plan 
 
Audit Area Comments 

Accountancy Support to other Departments This was a management request and was 
added to the Audit Plan. Following risk 
assessment & scoring it has been included 
in the 2022/23 Audit Plan. 

Covid Support Grants This was a new area to encapsulate multiple 
Covid Grant types within the Audit Plan and 
merge into a single area. Following risk 
assessment & scoring it has been included 
in the 2022/23 Audit Plan. 

Empty Properties This was a management request and was 
added to the Audit Plan. Following risk 
assessment & scoring it has been included 
in the 2022/23 Audit Plan. 

Grant Claim Submission Processes This was a management request and was 
added to the Audit Plan. Following risk 
assessment & scoring it has been included 
in the 2022/23 Audit Plan. 

Levelling Up Fund This was a management request and was 
added to the Audit Plan. Following risk 
assessment & scoring it has been included 
in the 2022/23 Audit Plan. 

Write Backs This was a management request and was 
added to the Audit Plan. Following risk 
assessment & scoring it has been included 
in the 2022/23 Audit Plan. 

 
 
There were also 4 areas within the Ad Hoc & Investigations section of the 2021/22 Audit 
Plan that remained in this section of the Audit Plan in 2022/23.  One of the 4 areas was 
audited in 2021/22, but currently remained in the Ad Hoc section.  Another area was in the 
process of being audited.  Of the 2 other areas, these had been re-assessed as part of the 
2022/23 Audit Plan planning processes and both areas had scored high enough to be 
included in the 2022/23 Audit Plan.  The 4 areas were:- 
 

 Financial Controls; 

 Other Pandemic Grant Funding; 

 Transferred Assets (Audit Commenced); and 

 Write Off Processes (Audited in 2021/22). 

Page 55



 
 
 

 

 
8 

 
The Audit Plan had been cross-referenced to the latest version of the risk registers 
(January 2022 version).  This contributed to the risk analysis of audit areas and was a key 
part of the scoring matrix that was part of the overall risk assessment.  Where an audit area 
was reflected in more than one of the risk registers then the score for the highest level of 
risk was applied.  For example, Strategic High risks scored greater than Operational High 
Risk or Generic High Risk.  This weighted scoring reflected the levels of risk and their 
impacts on achievement of the Council’s aims and objectives. 
 
The risk assessment for the Audit Plan considered 9 risk factors.  Each of these factors had 
a score, some of which were weighted according to risk.  The audit areas scoring the 
highest posed a higher level of risk to the Council, in theory.  The 9 risk factors used were:-  
 
1.) Audit Area covered by a risk in the Risk Registers? 
2.) Have system changes taken place? 
3.) Has the service or area been subject to cuts / job losses / restructure? 
4.) Does External Audit require coverage? 
5.) Is the audit ongoing, b/fwd or deleted from the 2021/22 Audit Plan? 
6.) Does the audit area directly affect the Council’s financial position? 
7.) Is it a Council, Management Team or Manager priority? 
8.) When was the last audit carried out? 
9.) What is the monetary value / income of the area? 
 
None of the above areas had the ability to affect the assessment process in their own right, 
which was why the Head of Audit & Investigations believed that the risk process accurately 
indicated which audit areas could pose a greater risk if left unaudited. 
 
An allocation of 10% of the available audit days had been classified as contingency days.  
These days were set aside to absorb time spent on ad-hoc pieces of unplanned work, such 
as investigations which arose during the financial year.  The 10% allocation was in line with 
previous years and previous External Audit recommendations.  In addition, contingency set 
at this level had proved to be effective in previous years. 
 
An allocation of 6 days had been made for audit follow-ups.  This was the same as in 
2021/22. 
 
An allocation of 42 days had been made for audit advice.  This was the same as in 
2021/22. 
 
The Audit Plan risk assessment had highlighted 16 audit areas as high risk, a decrease of 
13 on 2021/22.  The 2022/23 Audit Plan included 15 of these high risk areas.  The 1 area 
not included was at the request of Management due to the area undergoing significant 
change and restructuring in 2022/23.  Management had asked that the area be audited in 
2023/24 after these changes had become embedded. 
 
There were 92 medium risk areas, an increase of 27 on 2021/22 and 14 were included in 
the Audit Plan.  The remaining 78 medium risk areas would remain on a reserve list and 
would be included if other time allocations such as contingency days were not utilised. 
 
There were 28 low risk areas, a decrease of 9 on 2021/22.  None of the low risk areas were 
likely to be covered in the 2022/23 Audit Plan, unless the level of risk significantly increased 
or a specific issue was identified during the financial year. 
 
As in previous years, the Head of Audit & Investigations had been quite stringent with the 
allocation of audit days to maximise coverage and believed that the 2022/23 Audit Plan was 

Page 56



 
 
 

 

 
9 

challenging, but if achieved would give a good overview of the Council’s key risk areas as 
reflected in the risk registers.  It would also assist Management and those charged with 
Governance in gaining additional assurance on the Council’s risk environment and the 
various activities audited. 
 
The 2022/23 Internal Audit Plan summary was provided as Appendix 1 to the report.  (For 
clarification, Members were advised that the narrative and Appendix section to the Audit 
Plan had been reversed in error in the printed Agenda papers). 
 
The Chair asked what type of amendments to the Audit Plan, proposed to be covered by 
delegated powers, would be considered to be ‘minor’.  Mr Beard indicated that these might 
include pausing a review, altering timescales or selecting reviews from the reserve list.  
More significant amendments, such as those that might be caused by the loss of an Audit 
Team member would not constitute a minor change. 
 
Resolved - That the Committee: 
 

(1) Approves the Internal Audit Plan for the 
financial year 2022/23. 

 
(2) Grants delegated authority to the Head of Audit 

& Investigations to make any minor 
amendments to the Audit Plan: 

 
(a) proposed by Corporate Management Team 

without the need for the Internal Audit Plan 
to be re-approved.  This being due to the 
Audit Committee meeting being before the 
Corporate Management Team meeting; and 

 
(b) to allow audit resources to be diverted at 

short notice to risks and issues arising from 
the Council’s ongoing response to the 
Covid19 Pandemic without the need for the 
Internal Audit Plan to be re-approved. 

 
286 2019-20 Annual Audit Letter 

 
Joe McIntyre, Deputy Chief Executive, presented the Annual Audit letter from Grant 
Thornton UK LLP, which summarised the key findings arising from their work carried out at 
Hyndburn Borough Council for the year ended 31st March 2020. 
 
The letter set out the following details: 
 

 Executive Summary; 

 Audit of Financial Statements; 

 Value for Money Conclusion; and 

 Reports Issued and Fees. 
 
Mr McIntyre commented that the final letter reiterated the comments made at the previous 
Committee meeting on 29th November 2021.  The auditors had given an unqualified opinion 
on the Council's financial statements on 9th December 2021.  The main concern raised was 
about the lateness of accounts, which was due to staffing issues and the impact of 
additional work caused by Government grants provided in response to COVID-19.  Staffing 

Page 57



 
 
 

 

 
10 

had already been boosted and any other issues would be addressed as pressures from the 
pandemic waned. 
 
The Overall Value for Money conclusion, was that the auditors were satisfied that, in all 
significant respects, except one matter identified in the letter, the Council had put in place 
proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources for the year ending 31 March 2020. 
 
It was also reported that Grant Thornton had indicated that they intended to seek additional 
fees in the sum of £15k for 2019/20, based on increased costs due to COVID and 
responses provided to queries.  The Council was disappointed with this assessment and 
disputed the additional costs sought.  The matter would be referred to Public Sector Audit 
Appointments Limited (PSAA), who would ultimately determine the matter. 
 
Mr McIntyre commented that the Council’s long-standing relationship with Grant Thornton, 
as its external auditor, was due to come to an end in 2022.  During this period the Council 
had worked closely with a dedicated team of staff from the firm.  The authority wished to 
thank Grant Thornton and its staff for their work over the years.  Mazars LLP, had recently 
been appointed to audit the accounts for the year ended 2021.  It was hoped that this too 
would result in a long and productive relationship.  Work was progressing well on the audit 
of accounts for 2020/21 and this work should be completed by the end of May 2022. 
 
Members were reminded that on 24th February 2022, the Council had accepted PSAA’s 
invitation to opt into the sector-led option for the appointment of external auditors to 
principal local government and police bodies for five financial years from 1st April 2023. 
 
Resolved - That the Annual Audit Letter for 2019/20 in respect 

of Hyndburn Borough Council be noted. 
 

287 Audit Strategy Memorandum 2020-21 (DRAFT) for issue 
 
Daniel Watson, Engagement Senior Manager, Mazars (Manchester office), was in 
attendance at the meeting.   Apologies were presented on behalf of his colleague Mike 
Dalton, Engagement Lead, who had another commitment. 
 
The Committee was invited to consider the Audit Strategy Memorandum circulated with the 
Agenda which was the final version, rather than a draft.  The Memorandum included the 
following information: 
 

 Engagement and responsibilities summary; 

 The Audit Engagement Team; 

 Audit scope, approach and timeline; 

 Significant risks and other key judgement areas; 

 Value for Money; 

 Fees for audit and other services; 

 Commitment to independence; and 

 Materiality and misstatements. 
 
Mr Watson confirmed that the 2020/21 audit of accounts should be completed by the end of 
next month, allowing future audits to be brought back onto the target timeline.  The audit of 
accounts for 2021/22 would then commence, with a view to meeting the deadline for sign-
off of September 2022.  It was also possible that the Department for Levelling Up, Housing 
and Communities (DLUHC) would extend the deadline to November 2022.  In terms of the 

Page 58



 
 
 

 

 
11 

2020/21 accounts, only around 9% of local authorities had met the regulatory deadlines, so 
Hyndburn was not out of step with its peers. 
 
An outline was provided of the risks which Mazars considered to be significant in relation to 
the Council.  These comprised the following: 
 

 Management override of controls; 

 Net defined benefit liability valuation; and 

 Valuation of property, plant and equipment and investment properties (PPE). 
 
Mr Watson indicated that the Value for Money (VFM) process, which was previously part of 
the audit conclusion, had now changed.  Under the National Audit Office (NAO) Code of 
Accounting Practice 2020, work on VFM arrangements would form part of the Auditor’s 
Annual Report and would provide commentary on three key areas: 
 

 Financial sustainability; 

 Governance; and 

 Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 
 
Mazars would also follow up on the VFM weakness identified by Grant Thornton in 2019/20, 
regarding Financial Reporting. 
 
Audit fees totalling £45,201 were identified in the Memorandum, including some variations 
built in, which were known to PSAA.  The Fees wold be agreed with the Deputy Chief 
Executive before being submitted to PSAA.  An additional fee of £20,500 was proposed in 
connection with other work around Housing Benefits Subsidy Assurance.  This work was 
expected to be completed by the end of February 2022.  The Department for Work and 
Pensions (DWP) was also aware of this work. 
 
In respect of materiality, ie. the relative significance or importance of a particular matter in 
the context of financial statements, this would be set at 2% of gross expenditure (£940k).  
Performance materiality, ie. a lower amount set to reduce the chances of the aggregate 
value of the uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceeding materiality, would be set 
at 60% (£564k).  The triviality threshold ie, a reporting threshold for individual errors 
identified, would be set at 3% (£28k). 
 
Decision - To note the final Audit Strategy Memorandum 2020-

21. 
 

288 Update on Overspending Variances 
 
Joe McIntyre, Deputy Chief Executive, reminded Members that, at the Committee’s meeting 
on 29th November 2022, Councillor Michael Miller had asked about overspends in the 
following areas, as set out in the Statement of Accounts for 2019-20: 
 

 Regeneration Services (£184k) 

 Policy and Corporate Governance (£156k) 
 
Overall, during that financial year some good surpluses had been achieved, but there had 
been some negatives. 
 
In respect of Regeneration Services, a £56k deficit was attributable to the loss of rental 
income, with tenants moving out and the consequential business rates burden falling on the 
Council in the sum of £24k.  There was also around £75k additional expenditure not 

Page 59



 
 
 

 

 
12 

budgeted for, such as use of agency staff in the Corporate Property Team due to 
recruitment difficulties and additional Environmental Health Officers required in the 
Environmental Protection Team to deal with food safety and environmental nuisance.  In 
some instances, Council staff had been paid to do other work, the cost of which was offset 
by additional income. 
 
With regard to Policy and Corporate Governance, ie. central staffing, the overspend shown 
was the result of an accounting practice.  When the Budget was set, if Corporate Savings 
were required, this heading was where any negative variance would be allocated.  The 
Management Team would then work hard to find the necessary savings to reduce this 
variance.  In fact, the Corporate Savings Target for 2019-20 of £165k was achieved. 
 
Decision - That the verbal update on Overspending Variances 

for 2019-20 be noted. 
 

 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 60



 
1 

 
RESOURCES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

 
Thursday, 17th March, 2022 

 
Present:  Councillor Paddy Short (in the Chair),  

Councillors Andrew Clegg and Noordad Aziz (Vice Chair), June Harrison 
Co-optees: Doug Hayes and Bernard Dawson 
 

In Attendance: Councillor Joyce Plummer 

  

Apologies: Councillors Carole Haythornthwaite, Michael Hindley and Tim O'Kane 
 

 
307 Apologies for absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 
Apologies were submitted from Councillors Tim O’Kane, Michael Hindley and Carole 
Haythornthwaite. Councillor June Harrison substituted for Councillor Tim O’Kane. 
 
There were no declarations of interest or dispensations. 
 

308 Minutes of Last Meeting 
 
The Minutes of the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 16th February 
2022 were submitted for approval as a correct record. 
 
Doug Hayes, Cooptee, stated that that an amendment was required in the minutes of the 
last meeting. He was marked as present when in fact he had sent apologies for the 
meeting. 
 
Resolved  -  That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct record 
with the above amendment noted. 
 

309 Review of Non Domestic Rates Collection 
 
The Chair welcomes Councillor Joyce Plummer, Lee Middlehurst, Head of Benefits and 
Revenues and Teresa Phelan to submit their report on Non Domestic Rates Collections. 
 
Councillor Joyce Plummer provided a summary of the report and in depth responses to the 
advanced questions which they had received, which are listed below: 
 

1. Do we benchmark collection rates with other Local Authorities? If so how do our 
figures compare? 

 
2. Do you expect collection rates to return to previous highs and if so when? 

 
3. How does our process for billing/compliance/enforcement compare with the process 

for council tax collections? 
 

A written analysis relating to question one was also provided to members of the committee. 
 
Additional questions were submitted by members relating to the following: 
 

Page 61



 
 
 

 

 
2 

 Timings of the billing, compliance and enforcement stages, and how these affect our 
collection rates in comparison with other local authorities. 

 Value of non-domestic rates collected in previous years. 

 Enforcement monitoring. 
 
Councillor Plummer wished to place on record her thanks to the Benefits and Revenues 
service for the hard work and in particular their increased workload caused by the 
pandemic, during which numerous additional benefits were introduced and processed 
efficiently. The Chair echoed the thanks to all staff involved with the service. 
 
Lee Middlehurst thanked the Committee for the opportunity to present to them and looked 
forward to further opportunities to work with Councillors. 
 
Resolved - That the Committee notes the content of the report.  
 

310 Hyndburn Leisure Annual Review 
 
The Chief Executive of Hyndburn Leisure was due to report on this item but was unable to 
attend due to a positive Covid-19 test. Therefore the Chair moved that the item be deferred 
until the next meeting. 
 
Resolved - That the item “Hyndburn Leisure Annual Review” be deferred 
until the next meeting of the Committee.  
 

 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 62



 

 
1 

 
LICENSING SUB COMMITTEE 

 

 
Tuesday, 22nd March, 2022 

 
Present:  Councillor Melissa Fisher (in the Chair), Councillors Terry Hurn and 

Joyce Plummer 
 

Apologies Abdul Khan 

  

 
311 Apologies for absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 
An apology for absence was submitted from Councillor Khan. 
 
Councillor Plummer acted as substitute representative on behalf of Councillor Khan. 
 
In the absence of Councillor Khan (Chair), Councillor Fisher being Vice-Chair of the 
Committee took the Chair for the duration of the meeting. 
 

312 Minutes of the Last Meeting held on 15th November 2021 
 
The Minutes of the last meeting held on 15th November 2021 were submitted for approval 
as a correct record. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct 

record. 
 

313 Licensing Hearing Procedure 
 
The Council’s Conduct of Licensing Hearing procedure to be used in relation to a hearing, 
required under the Licensing Act, was submitted. 
 
Resolved - That the Procedure be noted. 
 

314 Licensing Act 2003 Determination Hearing Accrington Stanley Football Club 
 
In accordance with the Hyndburn Borough Council Policy on the Conduct of Hearings and 
the Licensing Act 2033 (Hearings) Regulations 2005, the Licensing Manager (Mrs Redfern) 
advised the Licensing Sub-Committee of the details of an application for a variation of a 
Premises Licence and a determination required under Section 35 of the Licensing Act 2003 
(‘the Act’).  The application was made by Accrington Stanley Football Club Limited, (“the 
Club”) the Premises Licence Holder, under Section 34 of the Act for the variation of a 
Premises Licence at the Wham Stadium, Livingston Road, Accrington. 
 
A copy of the Licensing Authority’s Conduct of Hearings had been circulated prior to the 
meeting with the agenda. 
 
The Licensing Manager advised the Sub-Committee that there had originally been four 
objections to the application but three had subsequently been withdrawn leaving only one 
objector.  The remaining objector was not present at the meeting. 
 

Page 63



 
 
 

 

 
2 

The Licensing Manager outlined details of the application which was amend the premises 
plan and add boxing and wrestling to the licence.  The plan needed to be amended 
following modernisation of the stadium and rebuilding of the Club House. 
 
A copy of the application and plan was attached at appendix A, the current licence was 
attached at appendix B, representations were attached at appendix C and the Licensing 
Authorities Conduct of Hearing Procedures was attached at appendix D. 
 
David Burgess (Managing Director of Accrington Stanley FC) and Gill Sharratt, acting as 
the Club’s agent were present at the meeting to submit comments in support of the 
application and to respond to questions of the Committee. 
 
The Sub-Committee in considering the application, took into account representations by Mr 
Burgess and Mrs Sharratt, the written representation from the remaining objector as well as 
the statutory guidance and that it must take such steps mentioned in Section 52(4) (if any) 
as it considers necessary for the promotion of the licensing objectives. 
 
Resolved - That, having taken into account Section 52(4) of the 

Licensing Act 2003 and after considering the 
representation made by a member of the public and 
representatives of the premises licence holder, the 
Licensing Sub-Committee determined that the 
application to vary the premises licence of Accrington 
Stanley Football Club Ltd. be approved in its entirety. 

 
   
 

 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 64



 

 
1 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

 
Wednesday, 23rd March, 2022 

 
Present:  Councillor Dave Parkins (in the Chair), Councillors Judith Addison, 

Terry Hurn, Melissa Fisher, Kath Pratt, Susan Hayes, Mohammad Ayub, 
Diane Fielding, Peter Britcliffe, Loraine Cox and Munsif Dad BEM JP 
 

Apologies: Councillors Eamonn Higgins, Kate Walsh, June Harrison, Sajid Mahmood 
and Caroline Montague 

  

 
315 Apologies for Absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Higgins, Mahmood, 
Harrison, Walsh and Montague. 
 
The following representatives acted as substitutions during the period of the meeting: 
 
Councillor Dad acted as substitute representative on behalf of Councillor Higgins Councillor 
Britcliffe acted as substitute representative on behalf of Councillor Mahmood 
Councillor Loraine Cox acted as substitute representative on behalf of Councillor Harrison. 
 
Councillor Pratt expressed concern that Councillor Dad may have an interest in the 
planning application being considered by the Planning Committee in respect to his contact 
with the applicants of the planning application.   
 
Councillor Dad declared a personal interest in the planning application 11/21/0552 – Land 
at Frontier Park, Blackburn Road, Knuzden, in respect of having held meetings with the 
applicants of the planning application but pointed out that this had not been in relation to 
this planning application.  He also clarified that he did not play golf with the applicants.  
Councillor Dad consequently took part in the discussion and voting of the planning 
application. 
 
No dispensations were declared at the meeting. 
 

316 Minutes of the Last Meeting 
 
The Minutes of the last Planning Committee held on the 23rd February, 2022 were 
submitted for approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct 

record. 
 
 
 

317 Town and Country Planning Act 1990- Planning Applications for Determination 
 
The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer submitted a report setting out recommended 
action in connection with the following application: 
 

Page 65



 
 
 

 

 
2 

11/21/0552 – Land at Frontier Park, Blackburn Road, Knuzden.   Full: Erection of 3 no. 
business units (Use Class E) and associated parking, access arrangements and 
landscaping (Retrospective) 
 
An update sheet was circulated prior and made available at the meeting.  The sheet 
provided comments from the lead Local Flood Authority with proposals for additional 
conditions.  Minor amendments were also made to conditions 9 and 11.  Due to the 
comments having been received from the Local Flood Authority the recommendations listed 
in the report had been amended to include the recommendations listed in the update sheet.   
 
Note:   
Matthew Wyatt (PWA Planning), the agent acting on behalf of the applicant, spoke in 
support of the application. 
 
Mrs. Thornhill, resident of the area, spoke in objection to the planning application. 
 
Councillor Marlene Haworth, Ward Councillor, spoke in objection to the planning 
application.  
 
Objections related to the impact of the building on the visual amenity of local residents and 
the negative impacts of additional traffic, increased pollution and on the ecology of the area.  
They also objected to the process taken to approve the original planning application and a 
lack of enforcement taken to prevent the extension of the building and a disregard for 
planning conditions for which this planning application was submitted in retrospect.   
 
A request was submitted to hold a recorded vote on the Officer’s recommendation for 
approval of the planning application as followings: 
 
In favour (6) – Councillors Parkins, Dad, Fisher, Fielding, Cox and Ayub 
Against (5) – Councillors Addison, Pratt, Hayes, Britcliffe and Hurn 
 
Resolved - That planning permission be approved subject to the 

conditions set out in the report and the 
additional/amended conditions set out in the update 
sheet submitted prior to the meeting. 

 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 66



 

REPORT TO: Council 

DATE: 30 June 2022 

REPORT AUTHOR: Julian Joinson, Head of Member Services 

TITLE OF REPORT: Motions for Debate at Council -  

1. Live Streaming Council Meetings 

EXEMPT REPORT:  No  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication: N/A 

 
The Council will be asked to consider the following motions submitted under Council 
Procedure Rule A9, as amended by Paragraph 3.3 (limit as to the number of motions) of the 
Urgent Council Decision approved on 21st December 2021:- 
 
1. Live Streaming Council Meetings 
 
That this Council requests the Cabinet to investigate the feasibility of Live Streaming Council 
Meetings.  
 
As we're all aware, during COVID the Council moved its meetings online via Teams.  
Although this was a necessity at the time, the return to in person meetings now means 
residents don't have the ability to view Council meetings from their own homes.  
 
As we move forward in an age of connectivity and instant access, I think it right that the 
Council now begin to move into the 21st century and follow what many other councils are 
already doing, by implementing live streamed meetings. 
 
Not only will this mean residents get to view what goes on during these meetings, something 
which many did tune in for during COVID, but most importantly, it will bring transparency and 
help to build trust in what "goes on behind closed doors" at the Council.  
 
We as a Council need to be more accessible and be seen to be working for the residents of 
this Borough.  
 
 
Proposer: Cllr Josh Allen 
Seconder: Cllr Dominik Allen 
 

Submitted on 21st June 2022 (13.45) 
 

Page 67

Agenda Item 9.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4. Confirmation of Minutes
	Council (Mayor Making) Minutes - 21/05/22

	5. Question Time
	6. Constitution Update
	7. Minutes of Cabinet
	8. Minutes of Committees
	Resources OSC Minutes - 17 March 2022
	Licensing Sub-Committee Minutes - 22 March 2022
	Planning Committee - 23 March 2022

	9. Motion(s) submitted on Notice

